

## **Citrus Transgenics: Current Status and Prospects**

### Wenwu Guo\* • Dingli Li • Yanxin Duan

National Key Laboratory of Crop Genetic Improvement, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan 430070, China Corresponding author: \* guoww@mail.hzau.edu.cn

#### ABSTRACT

Citrus is one important fruit crop in China and worldwide. Genetic transformation with more recently cloned target genes is an effective alternative for citrus improvement. In the past years, transformation systems using several explant sources such as protoplasts, embryogenic calluses, epicotyl segments and mature tissues have been well established and optimised. Selectable marker genes i.e. *GUS* and *GFP* are extensively used in citrus. Protoplast and embryogenic callus as explants are convenient and available at any time for transformation of seedless cultivars. Epicotyl segments as explants from seed germination are only available for seedy cultivars. *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation is the most extensively used one with a few reports on PEG or electroporation-mediated protoplast transformation. With the optimized regeneration systems, genetic transformation with target genes such as *CTV* coat protein, green fluorescent protein (*GFP*, an *in vivo* visual marker), *LFY*, *AP1*, *CiTF* (to shorten juvenility), peptide *D* and *Xa21* (for potential citrus bacterial canker resistance), *Barnase* (to induce seedless fruit) and abiotic stress related genes, was conducted and numerous transgenic plants were regenerated from many citrus cultivars. Transgenic lines containing the *GFP* gene are also being used as a visual marker in citrus somatic fusion for several purposes. The prospects of transformation for citrus improvement are discussed.

Keywords: citrus, genetic transformation, stress resistance, fruit quality, cultivar improvement

#### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
OVERVIEW OF TRANSFORMED CITRUS: HISTORY, EXPLANTS, AND METHODOLOGY	
TARGET GENES INTRODUCED INTO CITRUS	
Antibiotic and reporter genes	
Shortening the juvenile phase	
Abiotic-stress tolerance	
Disease and insect resistance genes	
Fruit improvement	
FURTHER USES OF TRANSGENIC CITRUS IN PROTOPLAST FUSION	
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

#### INTRODUCTION

Citrus is one most important fruit crop worldwide, it is just behind wheat and corn, ranking third among all the agricultural crops as far as international trade value is concerned (Deng 2005). The Chinese citrus industry ranks first for acreage and the production is the second largest in the world, after Brazil.

For the citrus industry, to improve fruit quality and reduce biotic and abiotic stresses are major breeding objectives at any time. Citrus traditional breeding methods (bud sports selection, cross and other breeding channels) are a laborious task, and often hampered by long juvenility, a high degree of heterozygosity, polyembryony, self-incompatibility and abortion of reproductive organs (Grosser and Gmitter 1990). Modern biotechnologies (genetic transformation and protoplast fusion) swarmed into practice and made it possible to overcome some of these breeding difficulties. Genetic transformation is a new approach that provides an avenue for modifying horticultural traits and providing new solutions to fulfill specific needs and study the gene function without altering their phenotype. Compared with traditional breeding methods, genetic transformation has its own characteristics: rational improvement of horticultural traits, widening the available gene pool, control and better understanding of gene expression and functions in plants, control of a single character through several desirable genes, reducing the time to introgress novel genes into elite backgrounds, *inter alia*. Although genome transfer via protoplast fusion is effective to solve problems such as sexual incompatibility, polyembryony, and male or female sterility encountered in conventional sexual crossing, transferring only the desirable gene into one *Citrus* species is difficult and nearly impossible. During protoplast fusion, desirable and undesirable traits in the whole genome of donor parent are all introduced into recipient partner at the same time. Comparatively, genetic transformation is more targetoriented than genome transfer via protoplast fusion.

# OVERVIEW OF TRANSFORMED CITRUS: HISTORY, EXPLANTS, AND METHODOLOGY

Transgenic research in citrus was first reported by Kobayashi and Uchimyia (1989) and the first transgenic citrus plant was obtained by Vardi *et al.* (1990). Both reports used direct DNA transfer method and protoplast regeneration system. Since then, transgenic technology was reported in many citrus species, by various methods and using different explants. Various genes were introduced into citrus to improve agronomic traits including enhanced bacterial, viral, pest and environmental stress resistance, extended storage life span, shortening juvenile stage and improved fruit qualities.

Attempts to improve crop plants by genetic engineering depend strongly on the availability of reliable protocols for transformation, selection and regeneration. Transformation efficiency which usually means the ratio of antibiotic-resistant or GUS- or GFP-positive lines to total numbers of explants inoculated, is also crucial for successful transformation. Optimizing the protocol is essential for genetic transformation. For example, the use of proper co-cultivation medium and conditions, preculture of explants, use of acetosyringone or feeder plates and the optimized Agrobacterium strains, will lead to a higher number of stably transformed cells and an increase in the final number of regenerated transgenic plants. However, it is not easy to establish a sufficiently reliable and efficient citrus transformation system. A citrus transformation protocol was explored by examining effects of different factors on the transformation efficiency and combining the best treatment for each factor (Cervera et al. 1998c; Costa et al. 2002). Carrizo citrange transformation efficiency was improved by using epicotyl explants (Yu et al. 2002; Kayim et al. 2005b). Li et al. (2003) used embryogenic calluses as explants and developed a new transformation system, subsequently analyzing the factors influencing transformation efficiency. Dominguez et al. (2002, 2004) analyzed transformation efficiency under selective or non-selective conditions. The results showed that inefficient selection could be attributed to the protection of non-transformed cells from selective agent by the surrounding transformed cells, and to the persistence of kanamycin-resistance of Agrobacterium.

Explants used in citrus transformation include internodes, epicotyls, cotyledon, protoplasts, and embryogenic callus. Epicotyls and internodes are now often used in citrus transformation for their low cost and ease of regeneration. Over 90% of transgenic citrus plants were obtained by using these explants (Table 1). But seed availability and limited season hampered its usage. For this reason, embryogenic callus and protoplasts isolated from embryogenic callus are good substitutes. Calluses of most varieties could be induced, and used for transformation at anytime (Li et al. 2002). Protoplasts isolated from embryogenic calluses are good explants but difficulties of protoplast culture and regeneration also limit its development. Different genotypes, explants and culture methods also affect the transformation efficiency. With plasmolysis treatment, the eight different citrus species had different transformation efficiencies (Kayim and Koc 2005).

In plant genetic transformation, juvenile explants were mostly used for their high morphogenetic potential and low contamination rates. But in transformation, the juvenile period prolonged the time of early evaluation and plant propagation. Using mature tissue as explant could overcome these problems. The mature tissue is important for early evaluation of genetically modified characteristics, for shortening the time to release transgenic varieties into market, and for maintaining the true-to-type of the variety for those species whose seedlings are from zygotic instead of nucellar embryos. The transformation technique of citrus mature tissue was exploited in the past years (Cervera et al. 1998a; Almeida et al. 2003b). Cervera et al. (1998a) firstly showed a reliable method for the production of mature transgenic citrus plants via Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. They obtained transgenic sweet orange that could flower and bear fruit in 14 months. However, the regeneration capacity and transformation rate were low when mature tissue was used, and most researchers still use juvenile explants for transformation.

Presently, production of transgenic citrus is achieved using two alternative strategies. One is to utilize the natural ability of Agrobacterium tumefaciens to transfer T-DNA from a plasmid vector into citrus genome (Hidaka et al. 1990; Moore et al. 1992; Bond and Roose 1998; Kayim et al. 2004; Carneiro et al. 2006; Cevik et al. 2006). The other is the 'direct DNA transfer', which includes methods such as polyethylene glycol (PEG) mediated protoplast transformation (Kobayashi and Uchimiya 1989; Vardi et al. 1990; Fleming et al. 2000; Guo et al. 2005; Omar et al. 2006), protoplast electroporation (Vardi et al. 1990; Hidaka and Omura 1993; Niedz et al. 2002) and microprojectile bombardment (Yao et al. 1996). Among these methods, Agrobacterium tumefaciens mediated transformation is most extensively used (Table 1). It was demonstrated that cells competent for transformation are located in the newly formed callus growing from the cambial ring. Conditions conducive to further development of this callus, such as treatment of explants in a medium rich with auxins, resulted in more pronounced formation of cambial callus and slower shoot regeneration process, both in Agrobacterium-inoculated and non-inoculated explants. Furthermore, co-cultivation in the medium rich in auxins caused a significant increase in the rate of actively dividing cells in the S-phase when cells are more prone to integrate foreign DNA (Peña et al. 2004b). Increasing the wounding area of explants by cutting internodes longitudinally into two halves, and optimization of inoculation density, dramatically enhanced both regeneration and transformation frequency (Yu et al. 2002). Adding 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) into explant pretreatment medium and co-culture medium also improved transformation efficiency (Costa et al. 2002; Peña et al. 2004b).

For gene promoters being used in citrus transformation, in almost all cases, CaMV 35S or double 35S were extensively applied.

Transgene silencing is a problem that occurs in citrus transformation, and host genes can also be silenced affected by the homologous transgene, thus limiting the potential application of gene transformation. The structure of a transgene locus is a major influence on the level and stability of transgene expression (Kohli et al. 2003). Mexican lime (Citrus aurantifolia) plants transformed with the p25 coat protein gene of Citrus tristeza virus (CTV) presented more than 30% silencing among the regenerates under non-selective conditions; and in all cases, silencing affected the transgene incorporated; inverted repeats as well as direct repeats and even single integrations could also trigger gene silencing (Dominguez et al. 2002). Among grapefruit (Citrus paradisi Macf. cv. 'Duncan') plants transformed with several sequences from CTV, a great variability in titer was observed in both controls and transgenic plants, and all were apparently susceptible to the virus, although some transgenic plants averaged lower titers of virus than controls (Febres et al. 2003). Dominguez (2002) observed that selection impedes the regeneration of plants with silenced transgenes.

#### TARGET GENES INTRODUCED INTO CITRUS

Except for gene function study, different genes have been introduced into citrus, which comprise antibiotic and reporter genes, shortening the juvenile phase genes, abioticstress tolerance genes, disease and insect resistance genes, and fruit quality related genes.

#### Antibiotic and reporter genes

In any plant genetic transformation system, a marker gene is important to recover a high proportion of transgenic plants from transgenic events. Antibiotic and reporter genes were first introduced into citrus species for exploring and optimizing citrus transgenic system and methodology. Much work has been done to improve transformation methods using only marker genes. The most commonly used marker gene is the neomycin phosphotransferase gene (*npt*II), which confers resistance to the antibiotic kanamycin (Peña *et al.* 2004a). Selection efficiency of this marker

Table 1 D	Different genes	introduced	into citrus.

Washington navel, TrovitaECAgNPTIIHidak et al. 1990Rough lemonPENPTIIVardi et al. 1990Trifoliate orangeESAgNPTIIKaneyoshi et al. 1994Carrizo citrange and LimeESAgGUSMoore et al. 1992Ohta ponkanPEGUSHidaka and Omura 19Pineapple sweet orangeISSAgGUSPeña et al. 1995aCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSPeña et al. 1995bPage tangeloECPBGUSYao et al. 1997Washington navel orangeESAgGUSPeña et al. 1997Washington navel orange, FinoES, ISSAgGUSCervera et al. 1998aCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSCervera et al. 1998aCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSPeña et al. 1998aCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSPeña et al. 1998a </th <th>bayashi and Uchimiya 1989 daka <i>et al.</i> 1990 rdi <i>et al.</i> 1990 neyoshi <i>et al.</i> 1994 bore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997</th> <th>NPTII</th> <th>Method</th> <th>Explant</th> <th>· · ·</th>	bayashi and Uchimiya 1989 daka <i>et al.</i> 1990 rdi <i>et al.</i> 1990 neyoshi <i>et al.</i> 1994 bore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997	NPTII	Method	Explant	· · ·
Troving Invision vect orangeECPEGNPTIIKonshim dl Chink wahing on avect and 1990Rough knoonPFNPTIIHidda et al. 1990Rough knoonPFNPTIIKnerysshi et al. 1994Cartro cirange and LineFSAgNPTIIKnerysshi et al. 1994Cartro cirange and LineFSAgGUSPete et al. 1925Otha pontanPFGUSHidda and Omura 15Pinapple swort orangeFSAgGUSPeta et al. 1995Cartro cirangeFSAgGUSPeta et al. 1997Washington navel orangeFSAgGUSCervera et al. 1998PinappleMSSAgGUSCervera et al. 1998Cartro cirange, FinoFSAgGUSCervera et al. 1998Cartra cirange, FinoFSAgGUSCervera et al. 1998Cartra cirange, FinoFSAgGUSCervera et al. 1998Mexican lineISSAgGUSCervera et al. 1998Duncan grapefiniFSAgGUSCharla et al. 2002Lardon Adenose, Cloopart mandarinISSAgGUSCharla et al. 2002Valenci Adenose, Cloopart mandarinFSAgGUSCarla et al. 2002Valenci Adenose, Cloopart mandarinFSAgGUSAdneds et al. 2002Valenci Adenose, Cloopart mandarinFSAgGUSAdneds et al. 2002Valenci Adenose, Cloopart mandarinFSAgGUSAdneds et al. 2	daka <i>et al.</i> 1990 rdi <i>et al.</i> 1990 neyoshi <i>et al.</i> 1994 pore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997				Antibiotic and reporter games
Washington navel, TrovitaLCAgNPTIIValidate and 1990Rough lamoPENPTIIVarid et al. 1990Trifoliate orangeESAgNPTIIKaneyoshi et al. 1991Ohta ponkanPEGUSMore et al. 1992Ohta ponkanPEGUSPela et al. 1995Dirato citrange orangeESAgGUSPela et al. 1995Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSWa et al. 1996Mashington navel orangeLSAgGUSBond and Roses 1998PineappleMISSAgGUSCarrent et al. 1997Washington navel orange, FinoESAgGUSCarrent et al. 1998Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSCarrent et al. 1998Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSCarrent et al. 1998Carrent or et al. 1988AgGUSCarrent et al. 1998Duncan grapefuitESAgGUSCarrent et al. 2003Duncan grapefuitESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Landin, Natal orangeFSAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Valencia, Hamin, Natal orangeESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2004Mindriange henon, 'Volkamer' kenon, RangpurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2004 <td>daka <i>et al.</i> 1990 rdi <i>et al.</i> 1990 neyoshi <i>et al.</i> 1994 pore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Anubiouc and reporter genes</td>	daka <i>et al.</i> 1990 rdi <i>et al.</i> 1990 neyoshi <i>et al.</i> 1994 pore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997				Anubiouc and reporter genes
Rough EmonPENPTIIVardie et al. 1990Christoi corinnge and LineESAgGUSMoore et al. 1992Carriao cirninge and LineFEGUSHidda and Omura 15Pineapple sweet orangeISSAgGUSPeine et al. 1994Carriao cirningeESAgGUSPeine et al. 1994Page tangeloFCPBGUSPeine et al. 1994Mexican ImeISSAgGUSCerven et al. 1997Washington movel orangeESAgGUSCerven et al. 1997Musington movel orange, FinoESAgGUSCerven et al. 1998Carriao cirninge, lineISSAgGUSCerven et al. 1998Mexican ImeISSAgGUSCerven et al. 1998Duncan grapefuitFSAgGUSLuth and Moree 1999Lanna, Alemov, Cleopata mandarinISSAgGUSLuth and Moree 1999Lanna, Alemov, Cleopata mandarinESAgGUSLuth and Moree 1999Lanna, Alemov, Cleopata mandarinESAgGUSLuth and Moree 1999Lanna, Alemov, Cleopata mandarinESAgGUSAleneide et al. 2003Valencia Natal and RangparESAgGUSAleneide et al. 2003Valencia, Ilamin, Neal orangesMSSGUSAleneide et al. 2003Valencia, Ilamin, Neal orangesHSAgGUSAleneide et al. 2003Nead, Cleopata mandarinESAgGUSAleneide et al. 2004<	rdi <i>et al.</i> 1990 neyoshi <i>et al.</i> 1994 oore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997	NPTH	PEG	EC	Trovita sweet orange
Rough EnonPENPTIIVarial et al. 1990Trifoliate orangeESAgGUSMoore et al. 1992Carrizo citrange and LineESAgGUSHidaka and Omura 15Pineapple sveet orangeESAgGUSPeta et al. 1993Pate tangeloECPBGUSPeta et al. 1994Mexican lineESAgGUSPeta et al. 1994Mexican lineESAgGUSPeta et al. 1994Mexican lineESAgGUSCerven et al. 1995Musington nuvel orange, FinoESAgGUSCerven et al. 1995Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSCerven et al. 1998Carrizo citrange, FinoESAgGUSCerven et al. 1998Duncan grapefiniESAgGUSCerven et al. 1998Hamin svect orangeESAgGUSCarrizo citrangeUnderstand MarcePSAgGUSCarrizo citrangeUaternia Natil and RangparESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2002Valencia Natil and RangparESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Valencia Natil and RangparESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2004Valencia Natil and RangparESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2004Svingle citrameloTESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2004Svingle citrameloESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2004Svingle citrameloESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2004	neyoshi <i>et al.</i> 1994 pore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997	111 111	Ag	EC	Washington navel, Trovita
Carrizo citrange and LineFSAgGL/SHidda and Orman 10Pine pple sveet orangeISSAgGL/SPine at al. 1995.Page tangeloISAgGL/SPine at al. 1995.Page tangeloISAgGL/SPine at al. 1995.Maxingin navel orangeISSAgGL/SPine at al. 1997.Washington navel orange, FinoISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Yashington navel orange, FinoISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Cartizo citrangeISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Cartizo citrangeISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Cartizo citrangeISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Duncan grapefruitISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Duncan grapefruitISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Duncan grapefruitISSAgGL/SChrobel at. 2001.Handin svect orangeISSAgGL/SChrobel at. 2002.Valeenia, Natao ang par fruitISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2003.Valeenia, Natao ang par fruit, surtangeISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2003.Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2004.Valencia, Nata and RangpurISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2003.Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2004.Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineISSAg <td< td=""><td>bore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997</td><td>NPTII</td><td></td><td>Р</td><td>Rough lemon</td></td<>	bore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997	NPTII		Р	Rough lemon
Carrizo citrange and LineFSAgGL/SHidda and Orman 10Pine pple sveet orangeISSAgGL/SPine at al. 1995.Page tangeloISAgGL/SPine at al. 1995.Page tangeloISAgGL/SPine at al. 1995.Maxingin navel orangeISSAgGL/SPine at al. 1997.Washington navel orange, FinoISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Yashington navel orange, FinoISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Cartizo citrangeISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Cartizo citrangeISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Cartizo citrangeISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Duncan grapefruitISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Duncan grapefruitISSAgGL/SCerven at al. 1998.Duncan grapefruitISSAgGL/SChrobel at. 2001.Handin svect orangeISSAgGL/SChrobel at. 2002.Valeenia, Natao ang par fruitISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2003.Valeenia, Natao ang par fruit, surtangeISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2003.Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2004.Valencia, Nata and RangpurISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2003.Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineISSAgGL/SAlmeida et al. 2004.Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineISSAg <td< td=""><td>bore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997</td><td>NPTII</td><td>Ag</td><td>ES</td><td>•</td></td<>	bore <i>et al.</i> 1992 daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997	NPTII	Ag	ES	•
Ohe porkanPEGUSHiaka and Omuno IDincapple source orangeISSAgGUSPela et al. 1995aCarrizo citrangeISSAgGUSVao et al. 1995AMexican lineISSAgGUSVao et al. 1996Mexican lineISSAgGUSBed and Rosse 1998Washington navel orangeISSAgGUSCervera et al. 1995bWashington navel orange, FinoESISSAgGUSCervera et al. 1998bWashington anvel orange, FinoESAgGUSCervera et al. 1998bCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSCervera et al. 1998bCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSCervera et al. 1998bDuncan grapefruitESAgGUSCarrizo citrangeDuncan grapefruitESAgGUSMendes et al. 2001aValencia Natal and RangurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2002aValencia Natal and RangurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2002aValencia Natal and RangurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003aValencia Natal and RangurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2004aValencia Natal and RangurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2004b<	daka and Omura 1993 ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997				
Pine spiple sveet orangeISSAgGUSPeha et al. 1995 a Carriro citrangePine at al. 1995 a Carlino citrange.Pine at al. 1995 a Carlino citrangePine at al. 1995 a Carlino citrangePine at al. 1997 a Carlino citrangePine at al. 1998 a Carlino citrangePine at al. 2004 a Carlino citrangePine at al. 2003 a Carlino citrangePine at al. 2003 a Carlino citrangePine at al. 2004 a Carlino citrange </td <td>ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997</td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>6</td>	ña <i>et al.</i> 1995a ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997		-		6
Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSPeña et al. 1995bPage tangeloECPBGUSYao et al. 1996Mexican lineISSAgGUSBond and Rose. 1997Washington navel orange, FinoESAgGUSCervern et al. 1998bCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSCervern et al. 1998bCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSCervern et al. 1998bCitrange, lineESAgGUSCervern et al. 1998bMexican lineISSAgGUSCervern et al. 1998bDuncan grapefruitESAgGUSLuth and Moore 1999Lenon, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarinISSAgGUSMendes et al. 2001aHanlins weto ronageESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Valencin Natia and RangpurESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Valencin Natia and RangpurESAgGUSMendes et al. 2003bValencin Natia and RangpurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003bValencin Natia weto ronage, Duncani grapefruit, sourCarrizo citrange, Mexican lineESAgGUSMenida et al. 2004bCarrizo citrangePuenage, Mexican lineESAgGUSMenida et al. 2004bSwingle citraneloESAgGUSMenida et al. 2004bCarrizo citrangePPEGGFPGhorbel et al. 1999Mindin 'rough lenon, 'Volkamer' lenon, RangpurESAgGUSManida et al. 2004bMine, 'tongle lenon	ña <i>et al.</i> 1995b o <i>et al.</i> 1996 ña <i>et al.</i> 1997				*
Page tangeloFCPR CGUSYao et al. 1996Mexican lineISSAgGUSPeha et al. 1997Washington navel orangeESAgGUSCarvers et al. 1998aWashington navel orange, FinoES, ISSAgGUSCarvers et al. 1998bCarizo citrangeESAgGUSCervers et al. 1998aCarizo citrangeESAgGUSCervers et al. 1998bCarizo citrangeESAgGUSCervers et al. 1998bCarizo citrange, IneESAgGUSCervers et al. 1998bDuncan grapefruitESAgGUSCube et al. 2001Lormon, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarinISSArGUSCube et al. 2001Valencia, Natal and RangpurESAgGUSYu et al. 2002Valencia, Hamilin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Valencia, Hamilin, Natal orange, TESAgGUSMolinal et al. 2004bCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSMolinal et al. 2004bVillan' rough kenon, 'Volkamer' lenon, RangpurESAgGUSKayin and Koc 2005Jihoori siveet orange, ChourangePEGFPFehne et al. 1999Curizo citrangeCarrizo citrangeFSAgGLSKayin and Koc 2005Jihoori siveet orange, ChourangeFSAgGUSKayin and Koc 2005Jihoori siveet orange, ChourangeFSAgGLSKayin and Koc 2005Jihoori siveet orange, ChourangeFS </td <td>o <i>et al</i>. 1996 ña <i>et al</i>. 1997</td> <td></td> <td>•</td> <td></td> <td></td>	o <i>et al</i> . 1996 ña <i>et al</i> . 1997		•		
Mexican lineISSAgGUSPerha et al. 1997Washington navel orangeESAgGUSBond and Rose 1997Washington navel orange, FinoES, ISSAgGUSCervern et al. 1988.Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSCervern et al. 1988.Citrange, lineESAgGUSPerhe et al. 1998.Moxican lineISSArGUSPerhe et al. 1998.Duncan grapefruitESAgGUSCervern et al. 1998.Landin swet orangeESAgGUSMethods et al. 2001Hamlin swet orangeESAgGUSMethods et al. 2002Valencin Natial and RangurESAgGUSMethods et al. 2002Yushencin, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarinISSAgGUSAlmoted et al. 2003Valencin Natial and RangurESAgGUSAlmotida et al. 2003Valencin Natial and RangurESAgGUSAlmotida et al. 2003Valencin Natial and RangurESAgGUSPenh et al. 2004Swingle citraneloTESAgGUSPenh et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSPenh et al. 2004Miner, 'Hamin'i sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourCarrizo citrangePPEGCarrizo citrangePPEGGFPGlorbel et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPNied zt al. 2002Carrizo citrangePPFGGFPGlorbel et al. 2002 <t< td=""><td>ña <i>et al.</i> 1997</td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td>6</td></t<>	ña <i>et al.</i> 1997		-		6
Washington navel orangeESAgCUSBond and Roose 1998PincenpleMISSAgGUSCervera et al. 1986Carizo citrangeESAgGUSCervera et al. 1986Carizo citrangeISSArGUSPerez-Molphe-BalchCitrange, lineESAgGUSCervera et al. 1986Duncan grapefruitESAgGUSCervera et al. 1986Lemon, Alenow, Cleopatra mandarinISSArGUSGuhrel et al. 2001Hamin sweet orangeESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Valencia, Natal and RangurESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Pera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangeESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Valencia, Itani, Matal orangeESAgGUSMoinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineES, ISSAgGUSPeña et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeFeno, Alenopatari mandarin, Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSPeña et al. 2004Carrizo citrangePESAgGUSRaijman at Acce 2005Piña et al. 2004Millan' rough lenon, 'Volkamer' lenon, RangurESAgGUSRaijman at Acce 2005Image, Cleopatari mandarinESAgGUSRaijman at Acce 2005Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPGhorbel et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeFSAgGFPGhorbel et al. 20					
PineappleMISSAgCUSCervers at al. 1998bMashington navel orange, FinoES, ISSAgGUSCervers at al. 1998bCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSPerta et al. 1998bCitrange, lineESAgGUSPertaer-Molphe-BalchMexican lineISSArGUSPertaer-Molphe-BalchDuncan grapefruitESAgGUSGlobel et al. 2001aHamlin sweet orangeESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002aValencia Natal and RangpurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003aValencia Natal and RangpurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003aPera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003bCarrizo citrange, Mexican lineES, ISSAgGUSDominguez et al. 2004bCarrizo citrange, Mexican lineES, SSAgGUSDominguez et al. 2004bCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSMolinari et al. 2004bMilami rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSMolinari et al. 2004bMilami rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGinrobel et al. 1999Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPNi et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFECAgGFPBoscariot et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePECAgGFPBoscariot et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFEGGFPBoscariot et al. 2002Mulhoni ni wee			-		
Washington avel orange, FinoES, ISSÅg <i>GUS</i> Cervera <i>et al.</i> 1998bCarrizo citrange, InneESÅg <i>GUS</i> Peha <i>et al.</i> 1998cCitrange, InneESÅg <i>GUS</i> Peter-Molphe-Balch.Duncan grapefruitESÅg <i>GUS</i> Luth and Moore 1999Lemon, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarinISSAr <i>GUS</i> Globrel <i>et al.</i> 2001aHamilin sweet orangeESÅg <i>GUS</i> Mendes <i>et al.</i> 2002Xuegan, Carrizo citrangeESÅg <i>GUS</i> Mendes <i>et al.</i> 2002Valencin, Natal and RangpurESÅg <i>GUS</i> Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2003bValencin, Natal and RangpurESÅg <i>GUS</i> Mendes <i>et al.</i> 2004Valencin, Natal and RangpurESÅg <i>GUS</i> Mendes <i>et al.</i> 2004bSwingle citrumeloTESÅg <i>GUS</i> Moinari <i>et al.</i> 2004bCarrizo citrange, Mexican lineESÅg <i>GUS</i> Moinari <i>et al.</i> 2004bCarrizo citrange, Mexican lineESÅg <i>GUS</i> Moinari <i>et al.</i> 2004bCarrizo citrange, Cuocara' grapefruit, sourESÅg <i>GUS</i> Moinari <i>et al.</i> 2004bCarrizo citrange, Cuopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrangeESÅg <i>GUS</i> Moinari <i>et al.</i> 2002Carrizo citrangePPFG <i>GPP</i> Fleming <i>et al.</i> 2002Valencia sweet orangePO'allowinge 'curange'PPFG <i>GPP</i> Nicdz <i>et al.</i> 2002Valencia sweet orangePDuncan grapefruitESÅg <i>GPP</i> Nicdz <i></i>			-		6 6
Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSCerver at d. 1998Mexican limeISSArGUSPerez-Molphe-BalchObnoan grapefruitESAgGUSLuth and Moore 199Lemon, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarinISSAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Nuenan grapefruitESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Valencin Natia and RangpurESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Valencin Natia and RangpurESAgGUSMendes et al. 2003Valencin Natia and RangpurESAgGUSMendes et al. 2003Valencin Natia and RangpurESAgGUSMendes et al. 2003Valencin Natia and RangpurESAgGUSMendes et al. 2004Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGUSMenima et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSMenima et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSMenima et al. 2004'Miliam' rough lemon, 'Volkumer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005Ime, 'Hamilin 'sweet orangePPPEGGFPFleming et al. 2002Carrizo citrangeECAgGFPShi et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePEGFPGhorbel et al. 2001Carrizo citrangePEGFPGhorbel et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePEAgGFPGhorbel et al. 2002'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkumer' lemon, RangpurImShi et al. 2002<			-		**
Cirange, lineESAgGUSPena er d. 1998Mexican lineISSArGUSPerez-Molphe-Balch.Duncan grapefruitESAgGUSLuth and Moore 1999Duncan grapefruitESAgGUSLuth and Moore 14201Hamilin sweet orangeESAgGUSMeddes et al. 2001Yuegan, Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSMeddes et al. 2002Valencia, Matl and RangpurESAgGUSMenedas et al. 2002Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSDoninguez et al. 2003Bergar, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSDoninguez et al. 2004Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, KSAgGUSPena et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeTESAgGUSPena et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSPena et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSPena et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSPena et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSPena et al. 2004Inini sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourorange, 'Cleopatra' mandarinESAgGPPPine et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePPPEGGPPNiedz et al. 2002Niedz et al. 2002Hamlin sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourPSAgGPPNiedz et al. 2002Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgGPPNiedz et al. 2006 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>,</td> <td></td>			-	,	
Mexican limeISSArGUSPrecz-Molphe-Balch Ochoa-Alej 1998Duncan grapefruitESAgGUSLuth and Moore 1999Lemon, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarinISSAgGUSChorbel et al. 2001Hamlin sweet orangeESAgGUSWaedse at al. 2002Yuelencia Natal and RangpurESAgGUSWaedse at al. 2002Yuelencia Natal and RangpurESAgGUSMaedse at al. 2003Pera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGUSMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSMolinari et al. 2004Millam' rough lemon, 'Yolkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSMainari et al. 2004'Millam' rough lemon, 'Yolkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGhorbel et al. 1999Carrizo citrangePPPEGGFPGhorbel et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePPPEGGFPSie al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeESAgGFPCluo et al. 2003Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeESAgGFPCluo et al. 2004Valencia sweet orangePPPEGGFPCluo et al. 2004Valencia sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourFSie al. 2002Corporati 'mandarin and carrizo citrangeValencia sweet orange, Carrizo ci			-		
Duncan grapefruitESAgGUSLuth and Moore 1999Lamon, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarinISSAgGUSMendes <i>et al.</i> 2001Hamilin sweet orangeESAgGUSMendes <i>et al.</i> 2002Valencia Natal and RangpurESAgGUSMineida <i>et al.</i> 2002Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesHSSAgGUSMineida <i>et al.</i> 2003Pera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesESAgGUSMineida <i>et al.</i> 2003Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesESAgGUSMolinari <i>et al.</i> 2004Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGUSMolinari <i>et al.</i> 2004Carrizo citrangeClower orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourFSAgGUSMolinari <i>et al.</i> 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSMolinari <i>et al.</i> 20042005Ime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourFSAgGLSKayim and Koc 2005Ime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourFSAgGFPNiede <i>et al.</i> 1099Itaborai sweet orangePPPEGGFPNiede <i>et al.</i> 2002Hamlin sweet orangePFSAgGFPNiede <i>et al.</i> 2002Valencia sweet orangePPEGGFPNiede <i>et al.</i> 2005Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgGFPNiede <i>et al.</i> 2004Valencia, Hamlin' sweet orangePPEGGFPNiede <i>et al.</i> 2005Valencia, Marlin du Garrizo citrangeFSAgG			Ag		-
Duncan grapefruitESAgGUSLuth and Moore 1999Lemon, Alemow, Cleopatr mandarinISSAgGUSMendes et al. 2001aHamlin sweet orangeESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Xuegan, Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003aPera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003bLeaf discsESAgGUSDominguez et al. 2004Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineES, ISSAgGUSDominguez et al. 2004aCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSDominguez et al. 2004a'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005line, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourESAgGFPGhorbel et al. 1999Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPFleming et al. 2004Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPGhorbel et al. 2004Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPSin et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPSin et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineES, ISSAgGFPSin et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineES, ISSAgGFPGuo et al. 2005Valencia sweet orangePPEGGFPSin et al. 2005Unicai sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourESAgGFPKayim and Koc 2005Iine, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourESAgGFP	rez-Molphe-Balch and	GUS	Ar	ISS	Mexican lime
Lemon, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarinISSAgGUSGhorbel et al. 2001aHamilin sweet orangeESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Vuegan, Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003aPera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003bCarrizo citrange, Mexican limeESRSAgGUSMolinair et al. 2004aCarrizo citrange, Mexican limeESAgGUSMolinair et al. 2004bCarrizo citrange, Mexican limeESAgGUSMolinair et al. 2004bCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSMolinair et al. 2004b'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur time, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPGhorbel et al. 1999Itaborai sweet orangePPEGGFPShi et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePECleopatra mandarinECAgGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeESAgGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeESAgGFPGue et al. 2005Niedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePEGFPGue et al. 2005'Malmin' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGue et al. 2005Niedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPGue et al. 2005'Malmin' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGue et al. 2006Niedz et al	hoa-Alejo 1998				
Hamlin sweet orangeESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Xuegan, Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Pera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Pera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Swingle citrumeloTESAgGUSPeria et al. 2004Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineESAgGUSPeria et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeCurrizo citrangePeria et al. 2004Carrizo citrangePeria et al. 2004"Milam" rough lemon, Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSReia et al. 2004"Iaborai sweet orangePPEGGFPGhorbel et al. 1990Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPFleming et al. 2000Cloopatra mandarinECAgGFPSlewet al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Ncican lineESAgGFPGio et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGio et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGio et al. 2004'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPCarrizo et al. 2004 </td <td>th and Moore 1999</td> <td>GUS</td> <td>Ag</td> <td>ES</td> <td>Duncan grapefruit</td>	th and Moore 1999	GUS	Ag	ES	Duncan grapefruit
Hamlin sweet orangeESAgGUSMendes et al. 2002Xuegan, Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Pera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Pera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Swingle citrumeloTESAgGUSPeria et al. 2004Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineESAgGUSPeria et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeCurrizo citrangePeria et al. 2004Carrizo citrangePeria et al. 2004"Milam" rough lemon, Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSReia et al. 2004"Iaborai sweet orangePPEGGFPGhorbel et al. 1990Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPFleming et al. 2000Cloopatra mandarinECAgGFPSlewet al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePFEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Ncican lineESAgGFPGio et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGio et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGio et al. 2004'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPCarrizo et al. 2004 </td <td>orbel et al. 2001a</td> <td>GUS</td> <td>-</td> <td>ISS</td> <td>Lemon, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarin</td>	orbel et al. 2001a	GUS	-	ISS	Lemon, Alemow, Cleopatra mandarin
Xuegan, Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSYu et al. 2002Valencia Natal and RangpurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Pera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS orAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineES, ISSAgGUSMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeFESAgGUSMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeVolkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005line, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourrorange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPGhorbel et al. 1999Itaborai sweet orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarinECAgGFPShi et al. 2002Qualencia sweet orangePPEGGFPShi et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePESAgGFPShi et al. 2002Qualencia sweet orangePPEGGFPShi et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican lineESAgGFPShi et al. 2002Qualencia sweet orangePPEGGFPGuo et al. 2005''Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGuo et al. 2005Quo et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgGFPZheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgChrosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)Boscariol et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseISSAgLEAFY, APETALAIPeña et al. 2007Tirfoliato orangeES	endes et al. 2002	GUS	-	ES	
Valencia Natal and RangpurESAgGUSAlmeida et al. 2003a Pera, Valencia, Hamilin, Natal orangesMISS or Net af discsCarrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGUSDominguez et al. 2004Swingle citrumeloTESAgGUSMolinari et al. 2004aCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSMolinari et al. 2004aCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005Ime, 'Hamilin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005Itaborai sweet orangePPEGGGFPFleming et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPGhorbel et al. 1999Itaborai sweet orangePPEGGGFPShi et al. 2002Carrizo citrangeES, ISSAgGFPDominguez et al. 2000Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGFPGuo et al. 2002Valencia sweet orangePPEGGFPGuo et al. 2002Valencia sweet orangePPEGGFPGuo et al. 2005Imme, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, Duncan' grapefruit, sourESAgGFPGuo et al. 2005Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgGFPZheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgGFPMexia et al. 2003Juncan grapefruitESAgif gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2001Trifoliate orangeESAgCitran et al. 2004valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera oranges <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>6</td>			-		6
Pera, Valencia, Hamlin, Natal orangesMISS or leaf discs <i>GUS</i> Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2003b leaf discsCarrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg <i>GUS</i> Molinari <i>et al.</i> 2004a Carrizo citrangeSwingle citrumeloTESAg <i>GUS</i> Molinari <i>et al.</i> 2004a Carrizo citrange'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur lime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrangeESAg <i>GUS</i> Kayim and Koc 2005Carrizo citrangePPEG <i>GFP</i> Ghorbel <i>et al.</i> 1999Itaborai sweet orangePPEG <i>GFP</i> Shi <i>et al.</i> 2002Carrizo citrangePECAg <i>GFP</i> Shi <i>et al.</i> 2002Hamlin sweet orangePE <i>GFP</i> Niedz <i>et al.</i> 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg <i>GFP</i> Dominguez <i>et al.</i> 2002Valencia sweet orangePE <i>GFP</i> Dominguez <i>et al.</i> 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur urange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg <i>GFP</i> Zheng <i>et al.</i> 2006'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur urange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg <i>GFP</i> Zheng <i>et al.</i> 2004'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur urange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg <i>GFP</i> Zheng <i>et al.</i> 2004'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur Limap'ESAg <i>GFP</i> Zheng <i>et al.</i> 2004'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur Limap'<			-		
leaf discsCarrizo citrange, Mexican lineES, ISSAgGUSDominguez et al. 2004Swingle citrumeloTESAgGUSMolinari et al. 2044Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSPeña et al. 2004b'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005Uime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourCarrizo citrangeFGhorbel et al. 1999Itaborai sweet orangePPEGGFPGhorbel et al. 2002Carrizo citrangePEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGFPDominguez et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGFPDominguez et al. 2002'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGuo et al. 2002'Indam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPBoscariol et al. 2003'Indam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPBoscariol et al. 2003'Indam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPBoscariol et al. 2003'Indam' sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPBoscariol et al. 2003'Indami' sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAgCarrizo citrangeBallester et al. 2001'Indication and carrizo citrangeESAgCiFTEndo et al. 2003'Indication angene futiIndication and carrizo citrangeESAgCitratLA11Peña et al. 2001<			-		
Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGUSDominguez et al. 200Swingle citrumeloTESAgGUSMolinari et al. 2044'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005lime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cloopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPGhorbel et al. 1999Itaborai sweet orange, annadarinECAgGFPGhorbel et al. 2004Molinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangePPEGGFPFleming et al. 2000Shi et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeECAgGFPShi et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGFPDominguez et al. 2000Valencia sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangePPEGGFPGio et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur ronage, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAgGFPZheng et al. 2006'Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orange, Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAgipt gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Carrizo citrangeISSAgLEAFY, APETALA1Peña et al. 2001Trifoliato orangeCarrizo citrangeCarve et al. 2007Carrizo citrangeISSAgLEAFY, APETALA1Peña et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeCarve et al. 2007Carrizo citrangeISSAgCitra bing-inducible ACCwynthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACS)Carve et al. 20	nonda ci ui. 20030	000	ng		rora, valenera, manini, ivatar oraliges
Swingle citrumeloTESAgGUSMolinari et al. 2004aCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSPeha et al. 2004b'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005'Iman' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourCarrizo citrangeESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPGhorbel et al. 1999Itaborai sweet orangePPEGGFPGhorbel et al. 2000Cleopatra mandarinECAgGFPNiedz et al. 2002Niedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGFPDominguez et al. 2000Valencia sweet orangePEGFPGio et al. 2005Sin et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGFPGio et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPZheng et al. 2006Valencia sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour'mange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAgGFPZheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgIpt gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2001'Trifoilate orange, Carrizo citrangeESAgLEAFY, APETALA1Peña et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAgLEAFY, APETALA1Peña et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAgAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCNong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAgCitranses chilling-inducible ACCNong et al. 2001 <td></td> <td>CUE</td> <td>A</td> <td></td> <td>Comine sites A Marian line</td>		CUE	A		Comine sites A Marian line
Carrizo citrangeESAgGUSPeña et al. 2004b''Milan' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGUSKayim and Koc 2005I'me, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPGhorbel et al. 1999Carrizo citrangeESAgGFPGhorbel et al. 2002PClaopatra mandarinECAgGFPShi et al. 2002Hamlin sweet orangePEGFPDominguez et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGFPDominguez et al. 2002Valencia sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangePPEGGFPGuo et al. 2005''Milan' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur ime, 'Hamlin, 'sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAgGFPZheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgipt gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2001Pincapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAg <i>CiFT</i> Endo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesESAgAntisense cilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAgHL22Cervera et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgAgAntisense cilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus bight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCi	•		-	,	
'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur lime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrangeESAg $GUS$ Kayim and Koc 2005Carrizo citrangeESAg $GFP$ Ghorbel et al. 1999Itaborai sweet orangePPPEG $GFP$ Fleming et al. 2000Cleopatra mandarinECAg $GFP$ Niedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg $GFP$ Niedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg $GFP$ Guo et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeESAg $GFP$ Guo et al. 2002Valencia sweet orangePPEG $GFP$ Guo et al. 2001CuoCuo2005Valencia, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg $GFP$ Zheng et al. 2006Duncan grapefruitESAg $GFP$ Zheng et al. 2006Boscariol et al. 2003 genePineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAg $Ipt$ gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAg $LEAFY$ , $APETALA1$ Peña et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAgCitraCarlo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISSAgCitraCarlo et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitraCarlo et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeES <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>6</td>			-		6
lime, 'Hamiln' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrange Carrizo citrange ES Ag GFP Ghorbel <i>et al.</i> 1999 Itaborai sweet orange P PEG GFP Fleming <i>et al.</i> 2000 Cleopatra mandarin EC Ag GFP Nied <i>z et al.</i> 2002 Carrizo citrange, Mexican lime ES, ISS Ag GFP Dominguez <i>et al.</i> 2002 Valencia sweet orange P E GFP Guo <i>et al.</i> 2002 Valencia sweet orange ES Ag GFP Guo <i>et al.</i> 2005 'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur lime, 'Hamilin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrange Duncan grapefruit Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera oranges ES Ag Phosphomannose-isomerase ( <i>PMI</i> ) Boscariol <i>et al.</i> 2007 <b>Genes shortening the juvenile phase</b> Carrizo citrange ES Ag <i>LEAFY, APETALA1</i> Peña <i>et al.</i> 2001 Trifoliate orange ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2005 <b>Abiotic-stress tolerance genes</b> Carrizo citrange ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2005 <b>Abiotic-stress tolerance genes</b> Carrizo citrange ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2005 <b>Abiotic-stress tolerance genes</b> Carrizo citrange ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Carrizo citrange ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Carrizo citrange ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Swingle citrumelo ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Troyer citrange ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Swingle citrumelo ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Troyer citrange ES Ag <i>CifFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Swingle citrumelo ES Ag <i>CifFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Troyer citrange ES Ag <i>CifFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Troyer citrange ES Ag <i>CifFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Swingle citrumelo ES Ag <i>CifFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Troyer citrange ES Ag <i>CifFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2006 Troyer citrange ES Ag <i>CifFS Circus bilght-associated gene Kayim et al.</i> 2004 Molinari <i>et al.</i> 2004 Molinari <i>et al.</i> 2004 Molinari <i>et al.</i> 2004 Molinari <i>et al.</i> 2005					6
orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrangeESAg $GFP$ Ghorbel $dl. 1999$ Carrizo citrangePPEG $GFP$ Fleming $et al. 2000$ Cleopatra mandarinECAg $GFP$ Niedz $et al. 2002$ Hamlin sweet orangePE $GFP$ Niedz $et al. 2002$ Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg $GFP$ Dominguez $et al. 2000$ Valencia sweet orangePPEG $GFP$ Guo $et al. 2005$ 'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAg $GFP$ Kayim and Koc 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAg $GFP$ Zheng $et al. 2006$ 'Mann' sweet orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg $Phosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)$ Boscial $et al. 2003$ Juncan grapefruitESAg $phosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)$ Ballester $et al. 2006$ Carrizo citrangeESAg $ipt$ gene (MAT system)Ballester $et al. 2001$ Trifoliate orangeESAg $ipt$ gene (MAT system)Ballester $et al. 2005$ Static strangeCarrizo citrangeESAg $ipt$ gene (MAT system)Ballester $et al. 2001$ Trifoliate orangeESAg $ipt$ gene (MAT system)Ballester $et al. 2005$ Static strangeCarrizo citrangeESAg $ipt$ gene (MAT system)Ballester $et al. 2001$ Trifoliate orangeESAg $ipt$ gene (MAT system)Ballester $et al. 2001$ synthase trifoliat agene (CS-ACSI)Carrizo citrangeESAg	yim and Koc 2005	GUS	Ag	ES	
Carrizo citrangeESAg $GFP$ Ghorbel et al. 1999Itaborai sweet orangePPPEG $GFP$ Fleming et al. 2000Cleopatra mandarinECAg $GFP$ Shi et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg $GFP$ Dominguez et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg $GFP$ Guo et al. 2005Valencia sweet orangePPPEG $GFP$ Guo et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAg $GFP$ Kayim and Koc 2005lime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg $GFP$ Zheng et al. 2006Duncan grapefruitESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)Boscariol et al. 2007Carnes bortening the juvenile phaseESAg $ipt$ gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Carrizo citrangeISSAg $LEAFY, APETALAI$ Peña et al. 2001Trifoliate orangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004					
Itaborai sweet orangePPEGGFPFleming et al. 2000Cleopatra mandarinECAgGFPShi et al. 2002Hamlin sweet orangePEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGFPDominguez et al. 2005Valencia sweet orangePPEGGFPGuo et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPGuo et al. 2005'Imm, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sourorange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)Duncan grapefruitESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)Boscariol et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgipt gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseESAgLEAFY, APETALA1Peña et al. 2001Trifoliate orangeESAgCiFTEndo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesESAgNithase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Carrizo citrangeISSAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrange, Poncirus trifoliataISSAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseCarrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeE					orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin, Carrizo citrange
Cleopatra mandarinECAg $GFP$ Shi et al. 2002Hamlin sweet orangePE $GFP$ Niedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg $GFP$ Dominguez et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAg $GFP$ Kayim and Koc 2005'Imilen' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg $GFP$ Zheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg $GFP$ Zheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase (PMI) geneBoscariol et al. 2003 genePineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAg $LEAFY, APETALA1$ Peña et al. 2001 Peña et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesESAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2001 vanita gene (CS-ACSI)Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2004 vanitat gene (DS-cs)Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthese synthetase (P5CS)Kayim et al. 2004 vanitat et al. 2004 vanitat et al. 2005Swingle citrumeloESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006 vanitat et al. 2004 vanitat et al. 2005Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006 vanitat et al. 2004 vanitat et al. 2005Swingle cit	orbel et al. 1999	GFP	Ag	ES	Carrizo citrange
Cleopatra mandarinECAg $GFP$ Shi et al. 2002Hamlin sweet orangePE $GFP$ Niedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg $GFP$ Dominguez et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAg $GFP$ Kayim and Koc 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAg $GFP$ Kayim and Koc 2005'Imine, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg $GFP$ Zheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase (PMI) geneBoscariol et al. 2003 genePineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAg $LEAFY, APETALA1$ Peña et al. 2001 Peña et al. 2005 <b>Carrizo</b> citrangeISSAg $LEAFY, APETALA1$ Peña et al. 2001 Peña et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase mutant gene ( $PSc$ )Swingle citrumeloESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006 synthetase ( $PSc$ )Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2004 Molinari et al. 2004 synthetase ( $PSc$ )Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006 Molinari et al. 2006 synthetase ( $PS$	eming et al. 2000	GFP	PEG	Р	Itaborai sweet orange
Hamlin sweet orangePEGFPNiedz et al. 2002Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAgGFPDominguez et al. 200Valencia sweet orange, Mexican limePPPEGGFPGuo et al. 2005'Milan' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAgGFPKayim and Koc 2005lime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAgGFPZheng et al. 2006Duncan grapefruitESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase (PMI) geneBoscariol et al. 2003 ageneBoscariol et al. 2003 genePineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAgipt gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseISSAg <i>LEAFY, APETALA1</i> Peña et al. 2001 erizo citrangeCarrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2004 wong et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004 Wong et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004 Wong et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004 Wong et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004 Wong et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004 Molinari et al. 2004 Synthase trifoliata gene (p5Cs) </td <td>•</td> <td>GFP</td> <td>Ag</td> <td>EC</td> <td></td>	•	GFP	Ag	EC	
Carrizo citrange, Mexican limeES, ISSAg <i>GFP</i> Dominguez et al. 200Valencia sweet orangePPEG <i>GFP</i> Guo et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, RangpurESAg <i>GFP</i> Kayim and Koc 2005lime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg <i>GFP</i> Zheng et al. 2006Duncan grapefruitESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase ( <i>PMI</i> )Boscariol et al. 2003 agenePineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAg <i>ipt</i> gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseISSAg <i>LEAFY, APETALA1</i> Peña et al. 2001 et al. 2005Carrizo citrangeISSAg <i>LEAFY, APETALA1</i> Peña et al. 2000 et al. 2005Carrizo citrangeISSAgAgAutisense chilling-inducible ACCCarrizo citrangeISSAgAgAutisense chilling-inducible ACCCarrizo citrangeISSAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase mutant gene ( <i>p5Cs</i> )Molinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgFor AB CCirvilleri et al. 2006Swingle citrumeloESAg <i>rol</i> A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003CitrangeESAg <i>rol</i> A B CHu et al. 2006, 2006Troyer citrangeESAg <i>rol</i> A B CHu et al. 2006, 2006Troyer citrangeESAg	edz et al. 2002	GFP	-		
Valencia sweet orangePPEG <i>GFP</i> Guo et al. 2005'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAg <i>GFP</i> Kayim and Koc 2005Duncan grapefruitSourd carrizo citrangeESAg <i>GFP</i> Zheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase ( <i>PMI</i> )Boscariol et al. 2003 genePincapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAg <i>Ipt gene</i> (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseISSAg <i>LEAFY, APETALA1</i> Peña et al. 2001Trifoliate orangeESAg <i>CiFT</i> Endo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISSAg <i>LAAFY, APETALA1</i> Peña et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene ( <i>CS-ACSI</i> )Wong et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus bilght-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus bilght-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthestaeMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAg <i>corrise i'a AB C</i> Carreiro et al. 2006Swingle citrumeloESAg <i>corrise i'a AB C</i> Carreiro et al. 2006Troyer citrangeESAg <i>rol A B C</i> Carreiro et al. 2006Troyer citrangeESAg <i>rol A B C</i> Hu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer c					e
'Milam' rough lemon, 'Volkamer' lemon, Rangpur lime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeES ES Ag $GFP$ Kayim and Koc 2005Duncan grapefruitES Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesES ESAg $GFP$ Zheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesES ESAg $Phosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)$ geneBoscariol et al. 2003a genePineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeES ESAg $ipt$ gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseES ES Ag $CiFT$ Endo et al. 2005Carrizo citrangeISS ES Ag $CiFT$ Endo et al. 2000Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISS Carrizo citrangeCervera et al. 2001Volog et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISS ES AgAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene ( $CS-ACSI$ )Volog et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeES AgAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase synthetase ( $P5CS$ )Molinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeES AgAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase ( $P5CS$ )Carreiro et al. 2006Swingle citrumeloES AgAgrol A B C ES AgCirvilleri et al. 2003 agaoga et al. 2007Troyer citrangeES AgAg Foryer citrangeFS Ag Foryer citrangeCirvilleri et al. 2004 Synthetase ( $P5CS$ )Troyer citrangeES AgAg Foryer citrangeCirvilleri et al. 2004 Synthetase ( $P5CS$ )<	U		-	,	
lime, 'Hamlin' sweet orange, 'Duncan' grapefruit, sour orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrange Duncan grapefruit ES Ag <i>GFP</i> Zheng <i>et al.</i> 2006 Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera oranges ES Ag Phosphomannose-isomerase ( <i>PMI</i> ) Boscariol <i>et al.</i> 2003 gene Pineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrange ES Ag <i>ipt</i> gene (MAT system) Ballester <i>et al.</i> 2007 <b>Genes shortening the juvenile phase</b> Carrizo citrange ISS Ag <i>LEAFY, APETALA1</i> Peña <i>et al.</i> 2001 Trifoliate orange ES Ag <i>CiFT</i> Endo <i>et al.</i> 2005 <b>Abiotic-stress tolerance genes</b> Carrizo citrange ISS Ag <i>HAL2</i> Cervera <i>et al.</i> 2001 Carrizo citrange, Poncirus trifoliata ISS Ag Antisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene ( <i>CS-ACSI</i> ) Carrizo citrange ES Ag Citrus blight-associated gene Kayim <i>et al.</i> 2004 Carrizo citrange ES Ag Pyrroline-5-carboxylate gene Molinari <i>et al.</i> 2004 mutant gene ( <i>p5cs</i> ) Swingle citrumelo ES Ag <i>rol</i> A B C Cirvilleri <i>et al.</i> 2006 Troyer citrange ES Ag <i>rol</i> A B C Hu <i>et al.</i> 2006 Troyer citrange ES Ag <i>rol</i> A B C Hu <i>et al.</i> 2006					•
orange, 'Cleopatra' mandarin and carrizo citrangeESAgGFPZheng et al. 2006Duncan grapefruitESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)Boscariol et al. 2003 genePineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAgpit gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseCarrizo citrangeESAgCIFTEndo et al. 2001Trifoliate orangeESAgCIFTEndo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesESAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeISSAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006Swingle citrumeloESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CFigoaga et al. 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CFigoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAgrol A B CFigoaga et al. 2007	yim and Koc 2005	GFP	Ag	ES	
Duncan grapefruitESAg <i>GFP</i> Zheng et al. 2006Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase ( <i>PMI</i> )Boscariol et al. 2003Pineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAg <i>ipt</i> gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseCarrizo citrangeISSAg <i>LEAFY, APETALA1</i> Peña et al. 2001Trifoliate orangeESAg <i>CiFT</i> Endo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesCarrizo citrangeISSAg <i>HAL2</i> Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAg <i>rol</i> A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006Swingle citrumeloESAg <i>rol</i> A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006, 2006Troyer citrangeESAg <i>rol</i> A B CFagoaga et al. 2006, 2006CitrangeESAg <i>rol</i> A B CFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAg <i>rol</i> A B CFagoaga et al. 2007					
Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera orangesESAgPhosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)Boscariol et al. 2003 a genePineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAgipt gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseISSAgLEAFY, APETALA1Peña et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAgCiFTEndo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesESAgAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001Synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase mutant gene (p5cs)Molinari et al. 2004Swingle citrumeloESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006, 2006Troyer citrange <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>					
Pineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAgipt gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseISSAgLEAFY, APETALA1Peña et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAgCiFTEndo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISSAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeISSAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001Carrizo citrange, Poncirus trifoliataISSAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Swingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylateCarreiro et al. 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007 <td>e</td> <td>GFP</td> <td>Ag</td> <td></td> <td></td>	e	GFP	Ag		
Pineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrangeESAg <i>ipt</i> gene (MAT system)Ballester et al. 2007Genes shortening the juvenile phaseISSAg <i>LEAFY, APETALA1</i> Peña et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeISSAg <i>CiFT</i> Endo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISSAg <i>HAL2</i> Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeISSAg <i>HAL2</i> Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrange, Poncirus trifoliataISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseCarneiro et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylateCarneiro et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylateCarneiro et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAgGalabace geneFagoaga et al. 2007	scariol et al. 2003a	Phosphomannose-isomerase (PMI)	Ag	ES	Valencia, Hamlin, Natal and Pera oranges
Genes shortening the juvenile phaseCarrizo citrangeISSAgLEAFY, APETALA1Peña et al. 2001Trifoliate orangeESAgCiFTEndo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISSAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001carrizo citrange, Poncirus trifoliataISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACCWong et al. 2001carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004bcarrizo citrangeESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylateCarneiro et al. 2006Swingle citrumeloESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007		gene			
Genes shortening the juvenile phaseCarrizo citrangeISSAgLEAFY, APETALA1Peña et al. 2001Trifoliate orangeESAgCiFTEndo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISSAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrange, Poncirus trifoliataISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase mutant gene (p5cs)Molinari et al. 2004 mutant gene (p5CS)Swingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS)Carneiro et al. 2006 mutant geneTroyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006, 2006 Fagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007	llester et al. 2007	ipt gene (MAT system)	Ag	ES	Pineapple sweet orange, Carrizo citrange
Trifoliate orangeESAgCiFTEndo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISSAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated gene mutant gene (p5cs)Kayim et al. 2004Swingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS)Carneiro et al. 2006 mutant gene (p5cs)Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006 synthetase geneCitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006, 2006 Fagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007					Genes shortening the juvenile phase
Trifoliate orangeESAgCiFTEndo et al. 2005Abiotic-stress tolerance genesISSAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrangeISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated gene mutant gene (p5cs)Kayim et al. 2004Swingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS)Carneiro et al. 2006 mutant gene (p5cs)Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006 synthetase geneCitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006, 2006 Fagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007	ňa <i>et al</i> . 2001	LEAFY, APETALA1	Ag	ISS	Carrizo citrange
Abiotic-stress tolerance genes   ISS   Ag   HAL2   Cervera et al. 2000     Carrizo citrange   ISS   Ag   Antisense chilling-inducible ACC   Wong et al. 2001     Carrizo citrange, Poncirus trifoliata   ISS   Ag   Citrus blight-associated gene   Kayim et al. 2004     Carrizo citrange   ES   Ag   Citrus blight-associated gene   Kayim et al. 2004     Carrizo citrange   ES   Ag   Pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase   Molinari et al. 2004b     Carrizo citrange   ES   Ag   Enzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylate   Carneiro et al. 2006     Swingle citrumelo   ES   Ag   rol A B C   Cirvilleri et al. 2006     Troyer citrange   ES   Ag   rol A B C   Hu et al. 2006a, 2006     Troyer citrange   ES   Ag   GA 20-oxidase gene   Fagoaga et al. 2007     Disease and insect resistance genes   ES   Ag   GA 20-oxidase gene   Fagoaga et al. 2007			-		÷
Carrizo citrangeISSAgHAL2Cervera et al. 2000Carrizo citrange, Poncirus trifoliataISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase mutant gene (p5cs)Molinari et al. 2004Swingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS)Carneiro et al. 2006 mutant gene (p5cS)Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006, 2006 Troyer citrangeCitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006, 2006 Fagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAgGA 20-oxidase gene	10 cr ur. 2005	on i	115	20	•
Carrizo citrange, Poncirus trifoliataISSAgAntisense chilling-inducible ACC synthase trifoliata gene (CS-ACSI)Wong et al. 2001Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated gene mutant gene (p5cs)Kayim et al. 2004Swingle citrumeloESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase mutant gene (p5cs)Molinari et al. 2004Troyer citrangeESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS)Carneiro et al. 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006, 2006CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesEEAgCaroina and an and an and an and an and an and and	$r_{vara}$ at al 2000	HAL2	Δa	155	8
Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004bSwingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylateCarneiro et al. 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2006a, 2006CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesEsAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007			-		e
Carrizo citrangeESAgCitrus blight-associated geneKayim et al. 2004Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004bSwingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylateCarneiro et al. 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesEsAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007	nig ei ul. 2001		ng	155	Carrizo chrange, i onenus unonată
Carrizo citrangeESAgPyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetaseMolinari et al. 2004b mutant gene (p5cs)Swingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS)Carneiro et al. 2006 synthetase (P5CS)Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003 citrangeCitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006 Fagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesESAgGA 20-oxidase gene		5 0 0 0		FG	
Swingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme '-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS)Carneiro et al. 2006 citrungeTroyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesEEEE			-		6
Swingle citrumeloESAgEnzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylateCarneiro et al. 2006Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genesEEEE	olinari <i>et al.</i> 2004b	5	Ag	ES	Carrizo citrange
Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genes					
Troyer citrangeESAgrol A B CCirvilleri et al. 2003CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genes	rneiro et al. 2006	Enzyme <sup>1</sup> -pyrroline-5-carboxylate	Ag	ES	Swingle citrumelo
CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genes		synthetase (P5CS)			
CitrangeESAgrol A B CHu et al. 2006a, 2006Troyer citrangeESAgGA 20-oxidase geneFagoaga et al. 2007Disease and insect resistance genes	villeri et al. 2003	rol A B C	Ag	ES	Troyer citrange
Troyer citrange ES Ag GA 20-oxidase gene Fagoaga et al. 2007   Disease and insect resistance genes E E Fagoaga et al. 2007		rol A B C	-	ES	Citrange
Disease and insect resistance genes			-		•
	504gu ci ui. 2007	ST120 onidase gene	115	25	
Augusta Augusta Augusta Data and Augusta	en <i>et al</i> 1997	Antibacterial pentide D cone	Δσ	FS	
			-		
Ridge Pineapple, Brazilian Sour orange, Key lime, ISS Ag <i>CP-CTV</i> Gutierrez-E <i>et al.</i> 199	uchez-e el al. 199/	Cr - CIV	Ag	155	
Carrizo citrange	( 1 1000	CD CTU		FC	•
Trifoliate orangeESAgCP-CTVHe et al. 1998			-		•
Mexican lime ISS Ag <i>CP-CTV</i> Dominguez <i>et al.</i> 200	e	CP-CTV	-		
Mexican lime ES Ag <i>CP-CTV</i> Dominguez <i>et al.</i> 200	•	CP-CTV	Ag		Mexican lime
Sour orangeISSAgCP-CTVGhorbel et al. 2000	orbel et al. 2000	CP-CTV	Ag	ISS	Sour orange
Duncan grapefruit ES Ag CP-CTV Moore et al. 2000	oore <i>et al.</i> 2000	CP-CTV	-	ES	Duncan grapefruit
Duncan grapefruit ES Ag RNA-dependent RNA polymerase Moore et al. 2000			-		
Troyer citrangeESAgCTV-RdRp, BastaPiestun et al. 2000			-		• •
		Untranslatable coat protein gene	Ag	ES	Rio Red grapefruit
	15 Cr ut. 2000	(uncp)-CTV	1.5	10	no nou grupon un

Variety	Explant	Method	Target genes	Reference
Pineapple sweet orange	ISS	Ag	Tomato pathogenesis I sweet orange related protein <i>PR-5</i>	Fagoaga et al. 2001
Mexican lime	ISS	Ag	P23-CTV	Ghorbel et al. 2001b
Trifoliate orange	ES	Ag	CP-CTV	He et al. 2001
Mexican lime	ISS	Ag	P25-CTV	Dominguez et al. 2002a, 2002b
Hamlin sweet orange	ES	Ag	Attacin A	Boscariol et al. 2003b, 2006
Duncan grapefruit	ES	Ag	CP-CTV	Febres et al. 2003
Hamlin sweet orange	Р	PEG	Xa21	Guo and Grosser 2004
Jincheng sweet orange	ES	Ag	Hepatitis A capsid protein fusion gene	Hu <i>et al.</i> 2004
Trifoliate orange	ES	Ag	CP-CMV	Iwanami et al. 2004
Ponkan mandarin	Nucelli	Ag	Bacillus thuringiensis (Btt)	Rhim et al. 2004
Lime, Sevillano, Sweet and Sour orange and Trifoliate orange	ISS	Ag	P23-CTV	Fagoaga et al. 2005, 2006
Grapefruit 'Rio Red', 'Ruby Red', 'Duncan' and sweet orange 'Hamlin'	ES	Ag	Bovine lysozyme gene and spinach defensin gene	Gonzalez et al. 2005
Duncan grapefruit, Hamlin sweet orange, Carrizo citrange	ES	Ag	CP- CPsV	Kayim et al. 2005
Hamlin sweet orange	Р	PEG	Xa21	Omar and Grosser 2005; Omar e al. 2006
Rangpur lime	ES	Ag	Bacterio-opsin (bO)	Azevedo et al. 2006
Duncan grapefruit	ES	Ag	CTV-RdRp	Cevik et al. 2006
Shatianyou pummelo	ES	Ag	ShivaA	Han et al. 2006
Ruby red, Rio red or Duncan	ES	Ag	Candidate CTV resistance gene	Rai et al. 2006
Femminello lemon	ES	Ag	Chit42	Gentile et al. 2007
Fruit quality related genes		-		
Trifoliate orange	ES	Ag	hEGF	Kobayashi et al. 1996
Duncan grapefruit	ES	Ag	Carotenoid biosynthetic genes	Costa et al. 2002
Ponkan mandarin	EC	Ag	pTA29-barnase gene	Li et al. 2002
Valencia orange	EC	Ag	pTA29-barnase gene	Li <i>et al.</i> 2003a
Anliucheng	EC	Ag	pTA29-barnase gene	Li <i>et al</i> . 2003b
Valencia sweet orange	Р	PEG	Pectin methylesterase gene (PME)	Guo et al. 2005

Note: Ar, Agrobacterium rhizogenes-mediated transformation; At, Agrobacterium tumufaciens-mediated transformation; Btt, Modified Δ-endotoxin gene of Bacillus thuringiensis; C, cotyledon; CiFT, othologue gene of FT (FLOWERING LOCUS T) in citrus; CP, coat protein; CTV, Citrus tristeza virus; EC, embryogenic callus; E, electroporation; ES, epicotyl segments; GFP, green fluorescent protein gene; GUS, β-glucuronidase; HAL2, halotolerance gene; ISS, internodal stem segments; MISS, mature internodal stem segments; NPTI/, neomycin phosphotransferase II; P, protoplast; PB: particle bombardment; PEG: polyethylene glycol; RdRp, RNA dependent RNA polymerase (FLOWERING LOCUS T); TES, thin epicotyl segments

gene is highly variable among citrus genotypes, especially in citrange transformation (Cervera *et al.* 1998a). Nevertheless, a low transformation efficiency was obtained in the cases of mature sweet orange (Cervera *et al.* 1998b) and sour orange (Ghorbel *et al.* 2000). In order to improve mature explant transformation efficiency, the *ipt* gene was used in citrus transformation with the easy visual detection of the gene phenotype (Ballester *et al.* 2007). Besides the *npt*II gene, hygromycin phosphotransferase (*hpt*) gene and phosphinothricin acetytransferase gene (*bar*), are also being used in citrus transformation.

 $\beta$ -glucuronidase gene (*uidA* or GUS) was the first reporter gene used in citrus transformation (Moore et al. 1992). The reason for the extensive use of *uidA* gene was the stable GUS assay and high sensitivity and amenability. And it can assay gene expression by qualitative (histochemical assay) and quantitative (fluorometric or spectrophotometric assay) detection. Compared with the *uidA* gene, green fluorescent protein (GFP) has a number of desirable traits as the reporter gene. Direct visualization of gene expression in individual cells is therefore possible without cell lysis and subsequent biochemical analysis, and tissue distortion caused by fixation, staining and section could be avoided (Chiu et al. 1996). By spatial visualization and revealing temporal patterns of gene expression in vivo, GFP facilitated citrus transformation (Ghorbel et al. 1999; Fleming et al. 2000; Shi et al. 2002; Niedz et al. 2002; Guo et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2006). At the same time, GFP could also be used as a quantitative reporter of gene expression. It was suggested that the use of *gfp* could significantly reduce labor, cost and time in citrus transformation system (Ghorbel et al. 1999; Liu et al. 2006; Duan et al. 2007).

As part of the process in citrus transformation, selectable markers are used to select transgenic cells, from which intact transgenic plants could be regenerated (Ghorbel et al. 1999). However, once transformation is accomplished the presence of the marker gene becomes not only unnecessary and even undesirable but also generating environmental and consumer concerns. Several strategies have been proposed to produce transgenic plants free from selectable marker genes, but little was done on citrus. An attractive alternative is to use the safe selectable marker genes or produce marker-free transgenic plants. In order to avoid the use of antibiotics or herbicides in genetic transformation, the reporter gene GFP as a safe marker was first used (Ghorbel et al. 1999; Dominguez et al. 2002b). With its extensive use as a reporter gene, the GFP gene has a potential application in citrus transgenics and other fields, and several new GFP plasmids for citrus transformation were constructed (Chen et al. 2007). Boscariol et al. (2003a) and Ballester et al. (2007) used a positive selection system to recover transgenic citrus. The MAT system (multi-auto-transformation), which combines the *ipt* gene for positive selection with the recombinase system R/RS for removal of marker genes from transgenic cells, was also used in citrus transformation (Ballester et al. 2007). And it was found the ipt gene was an efficient positive selection marker, which was successfully removed from 65% of sweet orange transformants.

#### Shortening the juvenile phase

Citrus cultivars have a long juvenile period, and it delays their reproductive development by between 6 and 20 years, depending on the species. Flower regulating genes like *LEAFY (LFY)* and *APETALA1 (AP1)* from *Arabidopsis* were used to shorten citrus juvenility and promote precocious flowering. Peña *et al.* (2001) demonstrated that constitutive expression of these two genes significantly shortened the juvenile phase of citrus trees. Both types of transgenic trees flowered in consecutive years under environmental control. And plants harboring one of the two genes flowered and produced fruits within one year after seed germination. The accelerated juvenile period was heritable in crosses with non-transformed plants. Recently, Endo *et al.* (2005) reported transgenic trifoliate orange (*Poncirus trifoliata* L. Raf.) showed very early flowering and fruiting (i.e. 12 weeks after transfer to the greenhouse) when overexpressing *Citrus FT* (*CiFT*, homolog of *Arabidopsis FLOWERING LOCUS T*). The results not only modified citrus genotypes but also provided an available tool to test gene function within a short time.

#### Abiotic-stress tolerance

Tolerance or resistance to stresses such as cold, drought and salinity is one major target for citrus breeding. Citrusgrowing regions include the Mediterranean, subtropical, semitropical, and tropic zones. So the environment is a restricting factor of citrus production. There are several successful reports with modified stress tolerance by transformation such as drought and salt tolerance of Carrizo citrange (Cervera *et al.* 2000a; Wong *et al.* 2001). But research on citrus cold-tolerance is rare.

Rootstock improvement is one major objective to increase abiotic-stress tolerance. The potential CTV resistant genes (the following text) and the tolerance to the salinity gene *HAL2* (Cervera *et al.* 2000a) have been introduced into Carrizo citrange and the transgenic plants expressed some resistance. Dwarfness is another target for rootstock improvement. *RolA*, *B*, and *C* genes from *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* single or combined together were transformed into citrus (Cirvilleri *et al.* 2003; Hu *et al.* 2006). Transgenic plants showed evident dwarfing characteristics, and by propagation of *rolA*, *B*, *C* transgenic citrus plants (Hu *et al.* 2006), transgenic dwarfing rootstock could be released in the future. Dwarfing transgenic 'Troyer' citrange lines were recently recovered by overexpressing the GA 20-oxidase gene (Fagoaga *et al.* 2007).

#### Disease and insect resistance genes

Disease and insect can cause severe losses by substantially reducing yield, affecting fruit quality, and shortening the lifespan of infected plants. Genetic transformation allows the insertion of specific disease and insect resistance traits directly into desirable elite varieties. CTV and citrus bacterial canker (CBC) are two most devastating diseases of citrus worldwide (Bar-Joseph et al. 1989). Traditional breeding could not solve the resistance problem. Genetic transformation provides an efficient strategy to develop new types of citrus resistant to the diseases. Presently, one major objective of citrus transformation is to produce transgenic plants resistant to CTV mediated by pathogenderived genes. Though the coat protein genes of CTV have been introduced into citrus (Gutierrez-E et al. 1997; Dominguez et al. 2000, 2002a, 2002b; Febres et al. 2003), no consistent resistance characters had been expressed. At the same time most Mexican lime lines expressing the p23 gene failed to develop resistance to CTV (Ghorbel et al. 2001b; Fagoaga et al. 2005). It was reported that transgenic citrus expressing a translatable p23 gene are showing symptoms similar to CTV-induced symptoms. In order to alleviate the limitations, candidate resistance genes (i.e. candidate R gene, CTV-Rdrp) have been introduced into citrus varieties and expressed some resistance in limiting the virus infection (Cevik et al. 2006; Rai 2006). In addition, Fagoaga et al. (2006) revealed that some propagated silenced lines were immune in the p23 transgenic Mexican limes. And the phenotype of propagations from the same transgenic line indicates that factors other than genetic background of transgenic plants, i.e. environmental conditions or developmental stage, play a key role in PTGS-mediated resistance.

Citrus canker, caused by the bacterial pathogen Xanthomonas axonopodi pv. citri, is also a serious disease of most commercial citrus cultivars and some citrus relatives. The potential antibacterial peptide D gene (Chen *et al.* 1997), the rice Xa21 gene (Guo *et al.* 2004; Omar and Grosser 2005) and the Attacin A gene (Boscariol *et al.* 2003b, 2006) were introduced into citrus varieties and transgenic plants are being evaluated for canker resistance. Besides these, citrus transformation with resistance genes such as bovine lysozyme gene, spinach defensin gene (Gonzalez *et al.* 2005), tomato pathogenesis I sweet orange related protein *PR-5* (Fagoaga *et al.* 2001), and *CP-CMV* (Iwanami *et al.* 2004) were also reported, and transgenic plants with these genes expressed resistance to some extent.

In addition, insects often destroy citrus fruit tree on leaf, stem, root, flower and fruit, and lead to the decrease of both fruit quality and production. A modified  $\Delta$ -endotoxin gene of B. *thuringiensis* subsp. *tenebrionis* (*Btt*), encoding a coleopteran-specific toxin, was utilized to transform 'Ponkan' mandarin. Hybridization experiments demonstrated that the transgenic citrus contained and expressed the toxin protein gene (Rhim *et al.* 2004). Transgenic lemon plants expressing a *Trichoderma harzianum* chitinase gene showed enhanced resistance to *Phoma tracheiphila* and *Botrytis cinerea* (Gentile *et al.* 2007).

#### **Fruit improvement**

The variety trend of fresh citrus fruit is easy peeling, seedless, strong flavour and aroma (Deng 2005). Genetically modified citrus for such a target have been reported. Genes to modify fruit traits include carotenoid biosynthetic genes controlling fruit and juice color, Barnase gene for fruit seedlessness (Koltunow *et al.* 2000; Li *et al.* 2002, 2003a, 2003b), and a juice quality related pectin methylesterase gene (Guo *et al.* 2005).

Most genes transformed into citrus expressed stably. Cervera et al. (2000b) exploited the stability of gene expression and phenotype through analyzing citrus transgenic population. Transgene integration and expression revealed that: (1) a significant negative correlation was found between copy number and GUS activity; (2) rearrangements of the T-DNA inserts did not imply low expressing levels; and (3) stability of integration and expression of the transgenes was confirmed for all transformants growing under natural environmental conditions. All these results confirmed that transformation technology could modify citrus traits, improve heredity and promote field production. Currently, main problems faced by citrus transformation are not to obtain transgenic citrus, but how to properly utilize it. The effect of storage and processing on plasmid, yeast and plant genomic DNA stability in juice from genetically modified oranges was recently reported (Weiss et al. 2007).

Great progress has been made in citrus genetic engineering. Though many genes have been introduced into citrus and expressed stably, few of them were cloned from citrus. Currently, some genes had been cloned from citrus and transformed into citrus, e.g. the ten candidate Ctv resistance genes (*R*-1, *R*-2,..., *R*-10) cloned from *Poncirus trifoliata*, were transformed into 'Ruby Red', 'Rio Red' and 'Duncan', three CTV susceptible grapefruit varieties (Rai 2006). Whereas many genes cloned from citrus have not been utilized efficiently, such as the cold related genes (Jia et al. 2004; Lang et al. 2005), MADS-box cDNAs (Endo et al. 2006), the Miraculin-like proteins (Tsukuda et al. 2006), the phytoene synthase geens (DQ235260, DQ109038, AB114664, AB114648, AY204550, etc.), phytoene desaturase (EF193860, DQ235261, AB114657, etc.), acid inver-tase (AB074886, AB074885, etc.), ACC synthase (AJ276295, AJ011095, AJ012696, etc.). Efficient utilization of these genes cloned from citrus will greatly expedite citrus improvement by genetic engineering.

#### FURTHER USES OF TRANSGENIC CITRUS IN PROTOPLAST FUSION

Transgenic citrus not only holds direct potential for cultivar improvement, could also be used in further study by biotechnological approaches. For instance, transgenic gfp cell lines could be used as a visual marker in somatic fusion (Olivares-Fuster et al. 2002). By fusion of embryogenic callus protoplasts with gfp transgenic mesophyll protoplasts, and facilitated by gfp expression and visualization in hybrid cells, somatic hybrid vigor or regeneration advantage was revealed and evidenced (Guo and Grosser 2005). Currently, using the fusion model of transgenic gfp embryogenic callus protoplasts + mesophyll protoplasts (Cai et al. 2006), studies on mechanism for cybrid regeneration via symmetric fusion, are being conducted. Furthermore, cybrids produced by this fusion model will have no gfp contamination and hold commercial potential if they are proved seedless. Hopefully this study will further facilitate targeted cybridization to produce more cybrids between male sterile Satsuma and seedy citrus cultivars for potential seedlessness.

#### SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Citrus is one most extensively growing fruit crop worldwide. Genetic transformation has become an attractive method for improving citrus species by modifying one or two traits without changing the cultivar integrity. Since the first report of transgenic citrus in late 1980s, great progress was achieved, including the establishment of efficient transformation system, and successive regeneration of genetically transformed citrus plants. And there are many in vitro protocols such as callus and cell suspension cultures, organogenesis induction, and protoplast manipulation that are available for transformation. Transgenic citrus plants were obtained by direct DNA transfer into protoplasts, particle bombardment of nucellar embryogenic cell suspensions and co-cultivation of internodes or epicotyl segments with Agrobacterium. The most widely used method of gene transfer in citrus is the Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of epicotyl segments. Using this system, transgenic plants of citrus species and relatives were obtained, including sweet oranges, sour oranges, limes, grapefruit, and Carrizo citrange rootstock. As for the transgenes, more and more agronomic genes were introduced into citrus plants. These include the citrus tristeza virus (CTV) resistant genes (CP-CTV, p23, R genes, etc.), citrus mosaic virus (CiMV) coat protein, the halotolerance gene HAL2 originally isolated from yeast that confers tolerance to salinity, Arabidopsis LEAFY and APETALA1 genes and citrus FT gene that promote early flower initiation, carotenoid biosynthetic genes from fruits of C. paradisi cv. 'Flame' that control fruit and juice color, and CS-ACS1 gene from Citrus sinensis that controls the ethylene biosynthesis, Xa21 providing broad spectrum Xanthomonas resistance in rice having potential citrus canker disease resistance. And recently, chimaeric ribonuclease gene (barnase) for seedlessness and a juice quality related pectin methylesterase gene (PME) from Valencia orange was introduced into sweet orange by Li et al. (2003) and Guo et al. (2005), respectively.

There are four transformation strategies worthy to note. First, mature tissue transformation (Cervera *et al.* 1998a, 2005). The reliable method for producing mature transgenic citrus plants via *Agrobacterium* was proceeded with *C. sinensis* L. Osbeck cv. 'Pineapple', 'Hamlin', 'Pera', 'Valencia' and 'Natal', though only the former two cultivars succeeded. Second, thin epicotyl section transformation for Carrizo citrange (*C. sinensis* × *Poncirus trifoliata*), and Swingle citrumelo (*C. paradisi* × *P. trifoliata*) was provided (Monlinari *et al.* 2004a). The third is rootstock improvement. Modified rootstocks by genetic transformation will have more advantages than on the scion, since rootstocks play an important role of a tree in its tolerance to stresses, and less concern of GMO safety is imposed on rootstocks than on scions. The fourth is to obtain safe selectable marker or marker-free transgenic citrus. The public concern about GMO safety, especially the negative attitude to the edible fresh fruits, hindered citrus transgenic research. Marker-free strategy is important for citrus transgenics.

Though great achievements have been made, there are still some problems to be addressed in citrus transformation. First, basic research including gene cloning and genetic mapping are poor for citrus. The weak genetic background hindered citrus transgenic research, and most work was based on experience or skills. Second, establishment of multiple gene transformation system is needed. Most characteristics were controlled by interaction of multi-genes, thus one or two modified genes could not result in enough transgenic traits for commercial use. Third, utilization of transgenic plants in citrus production is limited. Many transgenic citrus plants were obtained, but there has no commercial use yet, even for rootstock improvement.

Based on the present situation, it could be predicted that, improvement of citrus rootstocks tolerant to biotic and abiotic stresses via genetic transformation will result in better achievement out of all traits and could be utilized in the near future.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the financial support from the NSF of China, and the Ministry of Education of China (705037, IRT0548, NCET-04-0734).

#### REFERENCES

- Almeida WAB, Filho FAAM, Mendes BMJ, Pavan A, Rodriguez APM (2003a) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Citrus sinensis and Citrus limonia epicotyl segments. Scientia Agricola 60, 23-29
- Almeida WAB, Filho FAAM, Piño LE, Boscariol RL, Rodriguez APM, Mendes BMJ (2003b) Genetic transformation and plant recovery from mature tissues of *Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck. *Plant Science* 164, 203-211
- Azevedo FA, Filho FAAM, Mendes BMJ, Almeida WAB, Schinor EH, Pio R, Barbosa JM, Guidetti-Gonzalez S, Carrer H, Lam E (2006) Genetic transformation of Rangpur lime (*Citrus limonia* Osbeck) with the bO (bacterioopsin) gene and its initial evaluation for *Phytophthora nicotianae* resistance. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 24, 185-196
- Ballester A, Cervera M, Peña L (2007) Efficient production of transgenic citrus plants using isopentenyl transferase positive selection and removal of the marker gene by site-specific recombination. *Plant Cell Reports* 26, 39-45
- Bar-Joseph M, Marcus R, Lee RF (1989) The continuous challenge of citrus tristeza virus control. Annual Review of Phytopathology 27, 291-316
- Bond JE, Roose ML (1998) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of the commercially important citrus cultivar Washington navel orange. Plant Cell Reports 18, 229-234
- Boscariol RL, Almeida WAB, Derbyshire MTVC, Mourao Filho FAA, Mendes BMJ (2003a) The use of the PMI/mannose selection system to recover transgenic sweet orange plants (*Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck). *Plant Cell Reports* 22, 122-128
- Boscariol RL, Vieira MLC, Takahashi EK, Vieira LGE, Pereira LPP, Filho FAAM, Mendes BMJ (2003b) Sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck) genetic transformation with an antibacterial peptide coding gene, attacin A. *Plant and Animal Genomes XI Conference*, San Diego, CA, p 726
- Boscariol RL, Monteiro M, Takahashi EK, Chabregas SM, Vieira MLC, Vieira LGE, Pereira LFP, Mourão Filho FAA, Cardoso SC, Christiano RSC, Filho AB, Barbosa JM, Azevedo FA, Mendes BMJ (2006) Attacin A gene from Tricloplusia ni reduces susceptibility to Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. citri in transgenic Citrus sinensis 'Hamlin'. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 131, 530-536
- Cai XD, Liu X, Guo WW (2006) GFP expression as an indicator of somatic hybrids between transgenic Satsuma mandarin and Calamondin at embryoid stage. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 87, 245-253
- Carneiro CEA, Molinari HBC, Andrade GA, Pereira LFP, Vieira LGE (2006) Proline production by transgenic plants of Swingle citrumelo and susceptibility to glufosinate ammonium. *Pesquiza Agropecuária Brasileira* **41**, 747-753
- Cervera M, Juarez J, Navarro A, Navarro L, Peña L (1998a) Genetic transformation and regeneration of mature tissues of woody fruit plants bypassing the juvenile stage. *Transgenic Research* 7, 51-59
- Cervera M, Juarez J, Navarro L, Peña L (2005) Genetic transformation of mature citrus plants. *Methods in Molecular Biology* 286, 177-188
- Cervera M, Lopez M, Navarro L, Peña L (1998b) Virulence and supervirulence of Agrobacterium tumefaciens in woody fruit plants. Physiological and

Molecular Plant Pathology 52, 67-78

- Cervera M, Ortega C, Navarro A, Navarro L, Peña L (2000a) Generation of transgenic citrus plants with the tolerance-to-salinity gene HAL2 from yeast. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* 75, 26-30
- Cervera M, Pina JA, Juarez J, Navarro A, Navarro L, Peña L (1998c) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of citrange: factors affecting transformation and regeneration. *Plant Cell Reports* **18**, 271-278
- Cervera M, Pina JA, Juarez J, Navarro L, Peña L (2000b) A broad exploration of a transgenic population of citrus: stability of gene expression and phenotype. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 100, 670-677
- Cevik BV, Lee R, Niblett C L (2006) Genetic transformation of *Citrus paradisi* with antisense and untranslatable RNA-dependent RNA polymerase genes of *Citrus* tristeza closterovirus. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry* **30**, 173-182
- Chen CX, Zheng QF, Xiang X, Soneji JR, Huang S, Choi YA, Rao MN, Gmitter FG Jr. (2007) Development of pGreen-derived GFP binary vectors for citrus transformation. *HortScience* **42**, 7-10
- Chen SC, Zhang JR, Huang ZR, Gao F, Chen FZ, Long YQ (1997) Studies on *Agrobacterium*-mediated antibacterial peptide *D* gene transfer in citrus. *Scientia Agricultura Sinica* **30**, 7-13
- Chiu WL, Niwa Y, Zeng WK, Hirano T, Kobayashi H, Sheen J (1996) Engineered GFP as a vital reporter in plants. *Current Biology* **6**, 325-330
- Cirvilleri G, Gentile A, Gennari M, Deng ZN, Rizzitano A, Spina S, Domina F, Ahbate C, La RR (2003) Influence of transgenic *Rol*ABC citrus plants on root-associated bacterial. *Journal of Plant Pathology* **85** (Suppl.), 288
- **Costa MGC, Otoni WC, Moore GA** (2002) An evaluation of factors affecting the efficiency of *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of *Citrus paradisi* (Macf.) and production of transgenic plants containing carotenoid biosynthetic genes. *Plant Cell Reports* **21**, 365-373
- Deng XX (2005) Advances in citrus breeding in the world. Acta Horticulturae Sinica 32, 1140-1146
- Dominguez A, Cervera M, Perez RM, Romero J, Fagoaga C, Cubero J, Lopez MM, Juarez JA, Navarro L, Peña L (2004) Characterisation of regenerants obtained under selective conditions after *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of citrus explants reveals production of silenced and chimeric plants at unexpected high frequencies. *Molecular Breeding* 14, 171-183
- Dominguez A, Guerri J, Cambra M, Navarro L, Moreno P, Peña L (2000) Efficient production of transgenic citrus plants expression the coat protein gene of citrus tristeza virus. *Plant Cell Reports* 19, 427-433
- Dominguez A, Hermoso de Mendoza A, Guerri J, Cambra M, Navarro L, Moreno P, Peña L (2002a) Pathogen derived resistance to citrus tristeza virus (CTV) in transgenic Mexican lime (*Citrus aurantifolia* (Christ.) Swing.) plants expressing its p25 coat protein gene. *Molecular Breeding* 10, 1-10
- Dominguez A, Fagoaga C, Navarro L, Moreno P, Peña L (2002b) Regeneration of transgenic citrus plants under non selective conditions results in highfrequency recovery of plants with silenced transgenes. *Molecular Genetics* and Genomics 267, 544-556
- Duan YX, Liu X, Fan J, Li DL, Wu RC, Guo WW (2007) Multiple shoot induction from seedling epicotyls and transgenic citrus plant regeneration containing the green fluorescent protein gene. *Botanical Studies* 48, 165-171
- Endo T, Shimada T, Fujii H, Kobayashi Y, Araki T, Omura M (2005) Ectopic expression of an FT homolog from Citrus confers an early flowering phenotype on trifoliate orange (*Poncirus trifoliata* L. Raf.). *Transgenic Research* 14, 703-712
- Endo T, Shimada T, Fujii H, Omura M (2006) Cloning and characterization of 5 MADS-box cDNAs isolated from citrus fruit tissue. *Scientia Horticulturae* 109, 315-321
- Fagoaga C, Lopez C, Mendoza AH, Moreno P, Navarro L, Flores R, Peña L (2006) Post-transcriptional gene silencing of the p23 silencing suppressor of *Citrus tristeza virus* confers resistance to the virus in transgenic Mexican lime. *Plant Molecular Biology* **60**, 153-165
- Fagoaga C, Lopez M, Moreno P, Navarro L, Flores R, Peña L (2005) Virallike symptoms induced by the ectopic expression of the p23 gene of Citrus tristeza virus are citrus specific and do not correlate with the pathogenicity of the virus strain. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 18, 435-445
- Fagoaga C, Rodrigo I, Conejerox V, Hinarejos C, Tuset JJ, Arnau J, Pina JA, Navarro L, Peña L (2001) Increased tolerance to *Phytophthora citrophthora* in transgenic orange plants constitutively expressing a tomato pathogenesis related protein PR-5. *Molecular Breeding* 7, 175-185
- Fagoaga C, Tadeo FR, Iglesias DJ, Huerta L, Lliso I, Vidal AM, Talon M, Navarro L, Garcia-Martínez JL, Peña L (2007) Engineering of gibberellin levels in citrus by sense and antisense overexpression of a GA 20-oxidase gene modifies plant architecture. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58, 1407-1420
- Febres VJ, Niblett CL, Lee RF, Moore GA (2003) Characterization of grapefruit plants (*Citrus paradisi* Macf.) transformed with citrus tristeza closterovirus genes. *Plant Cell Reports* **21**, 421-428
- Fleming GH, Olivares-Fuster O, Fatta del-Basco S, Grosser JW (2000) An alternative method for the genetic transformation of sweet orange. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology Plant* **36**, 450-455
- Gentile A, Deng Z, la Malfa S, Distefano G, Domina F, Vitale A, Polizzi G, Lorito M, Tribulato E (2007) Enhanced resistance to *Phoma tracheiphila* and *Botrytis cinerea* in transgenic lemon plants expressing a *Trichoderma*

harzianum chitinase gene. Plant Breeding 126, 146-151

- Ghorbel R, Dominguez A, Navarro L, Peña L (2000) High efficiency genetic transformation of sour orange (*Citrus aurantium*) and production of transgenic trees containing the coat protein gene of citrus tristeza virus. *Tree Phy*siology 20, 1183-1189
- Ghorbel R, Juarez J, Navarro L, Peña L (1999) Green fluorescent protein as a screenable marker to increase the efficiency of generating transgenic woody fruit plants. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 99, 350-358
- Ghorbel R, la Malfa S, Lopez MM, Petit A, Navarro L, Peña L (2001a) Additional copies of virG from pTiBo542 provide a super-transformation ability to Agrobacterium tumefaciens in citrus. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 58, 103-110
- Ghorbel R, Lopez C, Fagoaga C, Moreno P, Navarro L, Flores R, Peña L (2001b) Transgenic citrus plants expressing the citrus tristeza virus p23 protein exhibit viral-like symptoms. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* 2, 27-36
- Gonzalez RJ, Graham J, Mirkov T (2005) Transformation of citrus cultivars with genes encoding potential resistance to citrus canker (*Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. citri). *Phytopathology* **95** (Suppl.), S35
- Grosser JW, Gmitter FG Jr. (1990) Protoplast fusion and citrus improvement. Plant Breeding Reviews 8, 339-374
- Guo WW, Duan YX, Olivares-Fuster O, Wu ZC, Arias CR, Burns JK, Grosser JW (2005) Protoplast transformation and regeneration of transgenic Valencia sweet orange plants containing the juice quality related pectin methylesterase gene. *Plant Cell Reports* 24, 482-486
- **Guo WW, Grosser JW** (2005) Somatic hybrid vigor in citrus: direct evidence from protoplasm fusion of an embryogenic callus line with a transgenic mesophyll parent expressing the GFP gene. *Plant Science* **168**, 1541-1545
- Guo WW, Grosser JW (2004) Transfer of a potential canker resistance gene into citrus protoplasts using GFP as the selectable marker. Acta Horticulturae 632, 255-258
- Gutierrez-E MA, Luth DE, Moore GA (1997) Factors affecting Agrobacterium-mediated transformation in Citrus and production of sour orange (Citrus aurantium L.) plants expressing the coat protein gene of citrus tristeza virus. Plant Cell Reports 16, 745-753
- Han ML, Lu RS, Wu YJ, Du XL (2006) Studied on factors influencing *ShivaA* gene transformation mediated by *Agrobacterium* in *Citrus grandis* Osbeck cv. Shatianyu. *GUIHAIA* 26, 479-482
- He H, Han ML, Li DG (2001) Plant regeneration from Agrobacterium-mediated CTV-cp gene transformation of Poncirus trifoliate Raf. China Journal of Chinese Materia Medica 26, 21-23
- He H, Pan RZ, Han ML, Li DG (1998) *In vitro* culture of explants and the *Agrobacterium*-mediated genetic transformation of *Poncirus trifoliata*. *Acta Botanica Yunnanica* **20**, 459-463
- Hidaka T, Omura M (1993) Transformation of *Citrus* by electroporation. *Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticultural Science* **62**, 371-376
- Hidaka T, Omura M, Ugaki M (1990) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation and regeneration of Citrus spp. from suspension cells. Japanese Journal of Breeding 40, 199-207
- Hu CH, Deng ZN, Gentile A, Xu Y, Xiong XY (2006b) Molecular analysis, morphological and physiological evaluation of the transgenic citrange plants with *rolA*, *rolB*, *rolC* genes. *Acta Horticulturae Sinica* **33**, 130-133
- Hu CH, Xie YM, Huang XC, Guo C, Jiao L, Wu XR, Deng ZN (2006a) In vitro propagation of rol A, B, C transgenic citrange. Journal of Fruit Science 23, 142-144
- Hu R, Wei H, Yun LP, He YR (2004) Construction of the plant expression vector with *Hepatitis* capsid protein gene and genetic transformation of *Citrus sinensis*. *Hereditas* 26, 425-431
- Iwanami T, Shimizu T, Ito T, Hirabayashi T (2004) Tolerance to citrus mosaic virus in transgenic trifoliate orange lines harboring capsid polyprotein gene. *Plant Disease* 88, 865-868
- Jia Y, Rio HSD, Robbins AL, Louzada ES (2004) Cloning and sequence analysis of a low temperature-induced gene from trifoliate orange with unusual pre-mRNA processing. *Plant Cell Reports* 23, 159-166
- Kaneyoshi J, Kobayashi S, Nakamura Y, Shigemoto N, Doi Y (1994) A simple and efficient gene transfer system of trifoliate orange (*Poncirus trifoliata* Raf.). *Plant Cell Reports* 13, 541-545
- Kayim M, Koc K (2005) Improved transformation efficiency in citrus by plasmolysis treatment. *Journal of Plant Biochemistry and Biotechnology* 14, 15-20
- Kayim M, Barthe G, Beretta J, Derrick K (2005) Transgenic citrus plants expressing the coat protein gene of citrus psorosis virus. *Phytopathology* 95 (Suppl.), S52
- Kayim M, Ceccardi TL, Berretta MJG, Barthe GA, Derrick KS (2004) Introduction of a citrus blight-associated gene into Carrizo citrange [Citrus sinensis (L.) Osb x Poncirus trifoliata (L.) Raf.] by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. Plant Cell Reports 23, 377-385
- Kobayashi S, Nakamura Y, Kaneyoshi J (1996) Ttransformation of kiwifruit and trifoliate orange (*Poncirus trifoliata*) with a synthetic gene encoding the human epidermal growth factor (hEGF). *Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticultural Science* 64, 763-769
- Kobayashi S, Uchimiya H (1989) Expression and integration of a foreign gene in orange (*Citrus sinensis* Osb.) protoplasts by direct DNA transfer. *Japanese*

Journal of Genetics 64, 91-97

- Kohli A, Twyman RM, Abranches R, Wegel E, Stoger E, Christou P (2003) Transgene integration, organization and interaction in plants. *Plant Molecular Biology* 52, 247-258
- Koltunow AM, Vivian-Smith A, Sykes SR (2000) Molecular and conventional breeding strategies for seedless citrus. Acta Horticulturae 535, 169-174
- Lang P, Zhang CK, Ebel RC, Dane F, Dozier WA (2005) Identification of cold acclimated genes in leaves of *Citrus unshiu* by mRNA differential display. *Gene* 359, 111-118
- Li DD, Shi W, Deng XX (2002) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of embryogenic calluses of Ponkan mandarin and the regeneration of plants containing the chimeric ribonuclease gene. Plant Cell Reports 21, 153-156
- Li DD, Shi W, Deng XX (2003a) Factors influencing Agrobacterium-mediated embryogenic callus transformation of Valencia sweet orange (Citrus sinensis) containing the pTA29-barnase gene. Tree Physiology 23, 1209-1215
- Li DD, Shi W, Deng XX (2003b) *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of embryogenic calluses of Anliucheng and regeneration of plants containing the chimeric ribonuclease gene. *Agricultural Sciences in China* **2**, 127-131
- Liu X, Duan YX, Fan J, Deng XX, Guo WW (2006) Transfer of green fluorescent protein gene into citrus embryogenic calluses and high efficient regeneration. *Journal of Fruit Science* 23, 801-804
- Luth D, Moore G (1999) Transgenic grapefruit plants obtained by Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 57, 219-222
- Mendes BMJ, Boscariol RL, Filho FAAM, Almeida WAB (2002) Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation of 'Hamlin' sweet orange. Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira 37, 955-961
- Molinari HBC, Marur CJ, Filho JCB, Kobayashi AK, Pileggi M, Junior RPL, Pereira LFP, Vieira LGE (2004b) Osmotic adjustment in transgenic citrus rootstock Carrizo citrange (*Citrus sinensis* Osb. x *Poncirus trifoliata* L. Raf.) overproducing praline. *Plant Science* 167, 1375-1381
- Molinari HBC, Bespalhok JC, Kobayashi AK, Pereira LFP, Vieira LGE (2004a) Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of Swingle citrumelo (Citrus paradisi Macf. × Poncirus trifoliata L. Raf.) using thin epicotyl sections. Scientia Horticulturae 99, 379-385
- Moore GA, Jacono CC, Neidigh J, Lawrence SD, Cline K (1992) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Citrus stem segments and regeneration of transgenic plants. Plant Cell Reports 11, 238-242
- Moore GA, Febres VJ, Niblett CL, Luth D, McCaffery M, Garnsey SM (2000) *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of grapefruit (*Citrus paradisi* MACF.) with genes from citrus tristeza virus. *Acta Horticulturae* **535**, 237-244
- Niedz RP, Hyndman SE, Wynn ET, Bausher MG (2002) Normalizing sweet orange [C. sinensis (L.) Osbeck] somatic embryogenesis with semi-permeable membranes. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 38, 552-557
- Olivares-Fuster O, Peña L, Duran-Vila N, Navarro L (2002) Green fluorescent protein as a visual marker in somatic hybridization. *Annals of Botany* 89, 491-497
- Omar AA, Grosser JW (2005) Transgenic "Hamlin" sweet orange plants containing a rice Xa21 cDNA gene obtained by protoplast/gfp transformation. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 45-A, 2038
- Omar AA, Song WY, Graham JH, Grosser JW (2006) Comparison between protoplast transformation and co-transformation in 'Hamlin' sweet orange [*Citrus sinensis* (L.) Osbeck]. *HortScience* **41**, 972-973
- Peña L, Cervera M, Juarez J, Navarro A, Ortega C, Pina JA, Duran N, Navarro L (1998) Genetic transformation as a tool for the introduction of agronomically important genes into citrus plants. *Acta Horticulturae* 463, 61-68
- Peña L, Cervera M, Juarez J, Navarro A, Pina J A, Duran-Vila N (1995a) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of sweet orange and regeneration of transgenic plants. Plant Cell Reports 14, 616-619

- Peña L, Cervera M, Juarez J, Navarro A, Pina JA, Navarro L (1997) Genetic transformation of lime (*Citrus aurantifolia* Swing.): factors affecting transformation and regeneration. *Plant Cell Reports* 16, 731-737
- Peña L, Cervera M, Juarez J, Ortega C, Pina JA, Duran-Vila N, Navarro L (1995b) High efficiency Agrobacterium-mediated transformation and regeneration of citrus. Plant Science 104, 183-191
- Peña L, Martin-Trillo M, Juarez J, Pina JA, Navarro L, Martinez-Zapater JM (2001) Constitutive expression of Arabidopsis LEAFY or APETALA1 genes in citrus reduces their generation time. *Nature Biotechnology* 19, 263-267
- Peña L, Perez RM, Cervera M, Juarez JA, Navarro L (2004b) Early events in Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation of citrus explants. Annals of Botany 94, 67-74
- Peña L, Cervera M, Fagoaga C, Perez R, Romero J, Juarez J, Pina JA, Navarro L (2004a) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of citrus. In: Curtis IS (Ed) Transgenic Crops of the World Essential Protocols, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 145-157
- Perez-Molphe-Balch E and Ochoa-Alejo N (1998) Regeneration of transgenic plants of Mexican lime from Agrobacterium rhizogenes-transformed tissues. Plant Cell Reports 17, 591-596
- Piestun D, Bstuman O, Che X, Gofman R, Filatov V, Zypman S, Gafny R, Bar-Joseph M (2000) Truncated versions of the citrus tristeza virus (CTV) replicase and basta resistance genes incorporated in transgenic Troyer citrange. Acta Horticulturae 535, 223-230
- Rai M (2006) Refinement of the citrus tristeza virus resistance gene (Ctv) positional map in *Poncirus trifoliata* and generation of transgenic grapefruit (*Citrus paradisi*) plant lines with candidate resistance genes in this region. *Plant Molecular Biology* **61**, 399-414
- Rhim SL, Kim Gi, Jin TE, Lee JH, Kuo C, Suh SC, Huang L C (2004) Transformation of citrus with coleopteran specific delta-endotoxin gene from Bacillus thuringiensis ssp. tenebrionis. Journal of Plant Biotechnology 6, 21-24
- Shi W, Li DD, Deng XX, Yi HL (2002) The transformation of gfp in Cleopatra (Citrus reticulata) mediated by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Acta Horticulturae Sinica 29, 109-112
- Tuskuda S, Gomi K, Yamamoto H, Akimitsu K (2006) Characterization of cDNAs encoding two distinct miraculin-like protein and stress-related modulation of the corresponding mRNAs in *Citrus jambhiri* Lush. *Plant Molecular Biology* 60, 125-136
- Vardi A, Bleichman S, Aviv D (1990) PEG-mediated transformation of citrus protoplasts and regeneration of transgenic planks. *Plant Science* 69, 199-206
- Weiss J, Ros-Churnillas M, Peña L, Egea-Cortines M (2007) Effect of storage and processing on plasmid, yeast and plant genomic DNA stability in juice from genetically modified oranges. *Journal of Biotechnology* 128, 194-203
- Wong WS, Li GG, Ning W, Xu ZF, Wendy Hsiao WL, Zhang LY, Li N (2001) Repression of chilling-induced ACC accumulation in transgenic citrus by over-production of antisense 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate synthase RNA. *Plant Science* 161, 969-977
- Yang ZN, Ingelbrecht IL, Louzada E, Skaria M, Mirkov TE (2000) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of the commercially important grapefruit cultivar Rio Red (Citrus paradisi Macf.) Plant Cell Reports 19, 1203-1211
- Yao JL, Wu JH, Gleave AP, Morris BAM (1996) Transformation of citrus embryogenic cells using particle bombardment and production of transgenic embryos. *Plant Science* 113, 175-183
- Yu CH, Huang S, Chen C, Deng ZA, Ling P, Gmitter FG Jr. (2002) Factors affecting Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of sweet orange and citrange. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 71, 147-155
- Zheng QF, Chen CX, Huang S, Xiang X, Choi YA, Gmitter FG Jr. (2006) The green fluorescent protein (GFP) is a vital visual marker in citrus transgene research. *Electronic Journal of Biology* **2**, 1-5